
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a Regular City Council Meeting 
on Monday, January 26, 2026, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  
1. Roll Call 
2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Declaration of any Conflict of Interest 
5. Public Forum (PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL 

BE SHARED WITH THE COUNCIL DURING PUBLIC FORUM. Email dbrissette@cariboumaine.org) 
6. Acceptance of Minutes          Pages 

a. Minutes of the January 2, 2026, Organizational City Council meeting    02-09 
b. Minutes of the January 12, 2026, Regular City Council meeting     10-14 

7. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 
8. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 
9. Reports by Staff and Committees 

a. Age Friendly Caribou presentation        15-20 
b. December financials          21-42 
c. City Manager’s Report          43-44 

10. Unfinished Business 
a. Discussion on adopting a Code of Conduct Resolution for the 2026 Caribou City Council  45-48 

11. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 
a. Fire Station Project, Design Development approval      49-55 
b. Approval of the 2026 Oak Leaf Systems contract       56-62 
c. Approval of the Collective Bargaining Agreement with NEPBA Local 605    63-91 
d. Discussion of 2026 Municipal Budget        92-93 

12. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members      Reports 
13. Next Regular Meetings: February 9, 2026        94-95 
14. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a. Executive Session for union negotiations pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.D (Fire Department Union) 
b. Executive Session for union negotiations pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.D (Police Department Union) 

15. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      
 

 
BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
Date:   January 21, 2026 
Re:   Multiple sets of City Council Minutes   

  

Tonight, in your packet for review is the set of minutes from the January 2, 2026 Organizational 
City Council Meeting and the January 12, 2026, Regular City Council meeting. 

 

 

Requested Action 

Please review. 

Motion to accept the minutes of: 

     January 2, 2026, Organizational City Council meeting 

     January 12, 2026, Regular City Council meeting 

 

Second 

Discussion 

Vote 

 

 

2



January 2, 2026 
26-01 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1: Roll Call  

The Caribou City Council held an Organizational Meeting, Friday, January 2, 2026 at 6:00 PM in 
Council Chambers with the following members present; Councilors Bagley, Boma, Knight Phair, 
Lovewell, Smith, and Watson.  Councilor Kelley was present via Zoom.  

Penny Thompson, City Manager, was present at the meeting.  

Department manager Peter Baldwin (Library Director) was present at the meeting.  

The meeting was broadcast via Spectrum and YouTube.   

Council Agenda Item #2: Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Councilor Smith read the invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3: Pledge of Allegiance 

The Council led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4: Swearing in of Elected Officials 

City Clerk, Danielle Brissette administered the oath of office to Daniel Bagley and Lori Knight 
Phair for a term of three years.  

Council Agenda Item #5: Election of Council Chairperson/Mayor and Deputy Mayor for 2026 

Councilor Smith nominated Councilor Boma for the position of Mayor for 2026. 

Councilor Boma nominated Councilor Smith for the position of Deputy Mayor for 2026.  

Councilor Watson nominated himself for Mayor for 2026. 

Secret Ballot Vote Results: 

 Mayor: 6 Votes Boma, 1 Vote Watson 

Councilor Courtney Boma was nominated as Mayor for 2026.  

 Deputy Mayor: 7 Votes Smith. 

Councilor Jody Smith was nominated as Deputy Mayor for 2026. 

Council Agenda Item #6: Public Forum 

There were no comments made by the public.  

Council Agenda Item #7: Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a.  Drawing for the 2026 City of Caribou dog licensing award by Mayor 

Mayor Boma picked the winning tag number from a large collection of registrations that were 
licensed by December 31, 2025 for the upcoming year.  The winner of the drawing is Pam Morin 

3



January 2, 2026 
26-01 Pg. 2 

for her dog Ginger.  A $50.00 gift certificate for veterinary services will be sent to their local 
veterinarian.   

b.  Haley-Ward Construction Documents approval for Library Project 

Matthew Carter is the Project Manager for the Library MCA Connectivity Hub project; he is 
working with Haley-Ward and attended the meeting via Zoom.   

Peter Baldwin, Library Director explained that the packet that has been provided to the council is 
the 90% construction documents that were discussed at the last meeting following phase three of 
the design development stage.   

Mr. Baldwin explained that the documents are the ones that are being prepared to be sent out to 
bid pending the Council approval.  The purposes tonight is to see if the Council approves of the 
design plan.  The packet also contains an updated cost estimate totaling a little over 1.8 million is 
a number that the library is comfortable with.  The library received a little over 1.8 million for 
the total of the entire project and then they have also saved some money already in different 
areas between initial architect cost as well as the abatement, and that helps them be comfortable 
with the number that has been presented. If the Council is comfortable with that then Haley-
Ward will continue on and get the bid sent out next week.   

Councilor Bagley asked if a detailed cost estimate was received.   

Mr. Baldwin explained that that the cost estimate that he has received is the one that has been 
presented to the Council in the packet.  

Councilor Bagley expressed concern with not having a per unit price with details on the pricing.   

Mr. Carter explained that the contract does not ask for a detailed cost estimate and that would be 
an additional service.   

Deputy Mayor Smith clarified that at this point in the process, is to approve the design and get it 
out to bid.   

Councilor Bagley asked what the back up plan was if the bids come in over the estimates. 

Mr. Baldwin explained that there are other efficiency initiatives and grants that can still be 
applied for as they go through the process.  There are also individuals that are looking to make 
donations in memory of loved ones, and those items can be used to save in different areas as 
well.  He stated that there are also plans to remove things that may be considered nice, but not 
necessary for the overall grant itself.   

Manager Thompson explained that the money received through the MCA was intended for and it 
has taken a long time for it all to come forward. The city had indicated that the project still needs 
the funding for the project.  

Councilor Bagley expressed concern with the cost estimate coming in close to the top of the 
budget, he stated that he really wants to see this project succeed.  

Mr. Baldwin explained that if the bids come in higher then they will look at eliminating certain 
things from the project itself, not affecting the major upgrades that they are looking for the 

4



January 2, 2026 
26-01 Pg. 3 

purposes of  creating a connectivity hub, but some of the other smaller things that they can 
remove and really bring the number down a little bit if necessary.   

Councilor Bagley it can be hard to cobble together a lot of little reductions to get a big reduction, 
and that sometimes you have to give up something major in order to meet your budget.   

Manager Thompson explained that one of the great things is that they have people that are very 
supportive of the projects and want to see it succeed and have offered assistance to make sure 
that it gets over the finish line.  This shows how supportive our community is in general of the 
library and the different services offered to the community.  Manager Thompson also noted that 
the City would not have qualified for the meeting if the City Council hadn’t put their faith in Mr. 
Baldwin’s long-term vision for the library.  Where the Council accepted their long-range plan , 
that was able to be incorporated into the application.  By being proactive at the council level, 
that’s how they can do these things.   

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Lovewell to approve the construction 
documents as presented by Haley-Ward. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Manager Thompson asked Mr. Carter if the project would be going out to bid on Monday.   

Mr. Carter explained that they have a few more things to pull together, but it will be going out to 
bid shortly.   

Manager Thompson asked if it would be out by the end of the next week.  

Mr. Carter explained that they are hoping to have it out by the end of next week.   

Manager Thompson told Mr. Carter to keep us in mind because were very anxious to get going.   

c.  Appointment of City Administrative Officers 

i. City Manager 
ii. City Treasurer  

iii. City Tax Collector 
iv. City Clerk & Registrar of Voters 
v. Overseer of the General Assistance Program 

vi. City Auditor 
vii. Legal Officer(s)  

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to move the slate and 
appoint the City Administrative Officers.  

 City Manager:       Penny Thompson 

 City Treasurer:      Carl Grant 

 City Tax Collector:      Carl Grant 

 City Clerk & Registrar of Voters:    Danielle Brissette 

5



January 2, 2026 
26-01 Pg. 4 

 Overseer of the General Assistance Program:   Danielle Brissette 

 City Auditor:       RHR Smith & Company 

 Legal Officer(s):       Solman & Hunter 

 City Legal Officer (Personnel & Collective Bargaining) Bernstein Shur 

 Health Officer 3 Year Term     Brian Lajoie 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

d.  Approval of Administrative Appointments 

i. Deputy City Clerk  
ii. Deputy Treasurer 

iii. Acting City Manager (during temporary absence or disability of city 
manager) 

Motion made by Councilor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to move the slate and appoint 
the administrative appointments for 2026. 

Deputy Treasurer:    Holli Doody 

 Deputy City Clerk:    Kristina Drinkall 

 Acting City Manager    Gary Marquis 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

e.  Appointment of Members to Committees and Advisory Boards 

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Bagley to appoint Kenneth 
Murchison, Jody Smith  and City Manager Penny Thompson as the alternate member, to the 
Aroostook Waste Solutions board of Directors, each for a 1-year term.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Lovewell, seconded by Councilor Watson to move the slate: 
Michael Quinlan to the Board of Assessors for a 3-year term. 
Dr. Irene Djuanda and Curt Patterson to the Cary Medical Center Board of Directors, each for a 
3-year term. 
Gary Marquis and Matthew Bouchard, to the Caribou Development Committee, each for a 3-
year term. 
David Martin to the Caribou Hospital District Board of Trustees for a 3-year term. 
David Belyea and Melinda Barnard to the Caribou Riverfront Development Committee, each for 
a 3-year term. 

6



January 2, 2026 
26-01 Pg. 5 

Abby Small to the Recreation Commission, for a 3-year term. 
David Martin to the Caribou Utilities District for a 3-year term. 
Travis Michaud to the Nylander Museum Board of Trustees, for a 3-year term. 
Lewis Cousins to the Zoning Board of Appeals, for a 3-year term. 
David Corriveau and Frank McElwain to the Caribou Planning Board, for a 3-year term. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Bagley, seconded by Councilor Watson to appoint Shane McDougall 
to the Airport Advisory Committee, for a 3-year term.   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Lovewell to appoint James 
Belanger and Jennifer Murray to the Caribou Housing Authority Board of Commissioners, each 
with a term ending December 31, 2028.   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Knight Phair to appoint Travis 
Michaud and Colleen Murphy to the Library Board of Trustees, each for a 3-year term.   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Abstain, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #8: New Business & Adoption of Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding 2026 

Councilor Lovewell stated that she would like to have budget workshops added to the schedule.  

Councilor Bagley explained that he would like to see two meetings per month because 
sometimes the meeting can be very involved.   

Mayor Boma stated that she would like to stay with one meeting per month.   

Deputy Mayor Smith would like to see two meetings a month and the meetings could be more 
brief.   

Councilor Watson explained that when there are multiple meetings in a month, often items have 
been pushed to future meetings rather then being handled.   

Mayor Boma stated that with multiple meetings a month quite often items were getting pushed 
out as a first read.  

7



January 2, 2026 
26-01 Pg. 6 

Councilor Bagley explained that sometimes with only one meeting per month, meetings can feel 
rushed to get through all of the agenda items.   

Mayor Boma explained that the next meetings would be January 12th and 26th, and that there 
would be two meetings in February and possibly three in March.  

Manager Thompson explained that we can always add a meeting if needed.   

Councilor Bagley advocated to have a council workshop with department heads to have an 
informal way for discussion regarding the 2026 proposed budget.  It allows for an open 
discussion and meeting without votes.   

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Lovewell to schedule meetings on 
the 12th and 26th of January 2026 at 6:00 PM in the Council Chambers.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

b.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Collection of Property Tax Prior to 2026 
Commitment 

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Deputy Mayor Smith to authorize the Tax 
Collector to accept early payments of 2026 property taxes with a  zero percent (0%) interest rate 
applied to any prepayment amounts.   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

c.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Manager Authorization to Approve Treasurer 
Warrants 

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Bagley to authorize the City 
Manager to review and approve all Treasurer Warrants for 2026. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

d.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Authorization to Provide a Tax Club for 2026 

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Lovewell to authorize a Tax Club for 
2026 as previously established. Providing for 12 equal payments of an accounts tax liability with 
no applied interest in October, November, and December for club participants. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #9: First-Read items for upcoming City Council meetings 

8



January 2, 2026 
26-01 Pg. 7 

a.  Discussion of City Council priorities for 2026 

Mayor Boma asked the Council to all email City Manager Thompson their top 3 priorities for the 
year.   

b.  Discussion of City Council member appointments to City Council committees & liaison roles 

Consensus of the Council was to keep the board and liaison roles the same with Councilor 
Knight Phair assuming the roles previously filled by Ms. Theriault.  Any changes or ideas should 
be emailed to the Mayor.   

Council Agenda Item #10: Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Bagley stated that he is looking forward to another productive and successful year.   

Councilor Lovewell congratulated Councilor Bagley and Knight Phair for being elected for their 
new terms, and that she is looking forward to 2026 being another great year.  

Deputy Mayor Smith welcomed Councilor Bagley, and Councilor Knight Phair.   

Councilor Knight Phair explained that she is excited to be part of the Council and anxious to 
learn.   

Mayor Boma welcomed the Councilors and stated that she is looking forward to the projects and 
everything that 2026 has to bring.  

Council Agenda Item #11: Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified 
under 1 MRSA §405.6) 

Council did not enter into executive session. 

Council Agenda Item #12: Next meeting January 12 & 26.  

Council Agenda Item #13: Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Lovewell to adjourn the meeting at 
7:13PM 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

9



January 12, 2026 
26-02 Pg. 1 

 

Council Agenda Item #1: Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a regular City Council Meeting on Monday, January 12, 2026, at 
6:00PM in Council Chambers with the following members present; Mayor Boma, Deputy Mayor 
Smith, Councilors Kelley, Knight Phair, Lovewell, and Watson.  Councilor Bagley was present 
via Zoom.   

Penny Thompson, City Manager, was present for the meeting.  

Department managers Lisa Plourde (Housing Director), Corey Saucier (Police Chief), Gary 
Marquis (Superintendent of Parks and Recreation), Brian Lajoie (Fire Chief), Chris Perkins 
(Director of Public Works), and Carl Grant (Finance Director) were present at the meeting.   

The meeting was broadcast via Spectrum and YouTube.   

Council Agenda Item #2: Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Deputy Mayor Smith read an invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3: Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Boma led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4: Declaration of any Conflict of Interest 

There were no declarations made.  

Council Agenda Item #5: Public Forum 

There were no comments made by the public.   

Council Agenda Item #6: Acceptance of Minutes 

a. Reconsideration of the minutes of August 25, 2025 

b.  Minutes of December 15, 2025 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith to move the slate and approve the minutes as presented.   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #7: Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a.. Caribou Housing Authority appointments, clarified to be 5-year Terms 

Motion made by Councilor Lovewell, seconded by Councilor Watson to appoint James Belanger 
and Jennifer Murray to the Caribou Housing Authority Board of Commissioners, each for a term 
of 5 years, expiring on December 31, 2030. 

10



January 12, 2026 
26-02 Pg. 2 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Lovewell to approve the 2026 
appointments to committee and liaison roles.   

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #8: Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

There were no items scheduled for discussion under this topic.  

Council Agenda Item #9: Reports by Staff and Committees 

a. Capital Budget presentation by Jim Gardner 

Jim Gardner, Project Navigator, is a retired town manager.  He started assisting the City of 
Caribou with projects like the Comprehensive Plan and other related projects in 2025.   

Mr. Gardiner provided an overview of why it is important to have a capital improvement plan 
and how it helps to plan for items like roofs, machines, vehicles and planned improvement or 
maintenance schedules for facilities.   

Mr. Gardiner explained that having a Capital Investment plan helps to identify and summarize 
anticipated capital investment needs and to establish funding priorities.  

Mr. Gardiner explained that the mil rate is made up of three major items, school, county and 
municipal. He stated that you cannot push off municipal needs to help offset the difference from 
the other entities.  Mr. Gardiner stressed the importance of funding municipal needs, and how a 
Capital Improvement Plan would help to spread it out overtime for a smaller impact on the 
taxpayers over time.   

b.  City Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s Report dated January 12, 2026. 

Council Agenda Item #10: New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Establish meeting calendar for 2026 

Motion made by Councilor Watson, seconded by Councilor Knight Phair to approve the 
proposed 2026 meeting calendar as presented.  

Councilor Bagley stated that he would still like to see two meetings per month and that the 
Council could possibly add one to both April and November.  

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

11



January 12, 2026 
26-02 Pg. 3 

b. Discussion on adopting a resolution to adopt a Code of Conduct for the 2026 City Council 

Councilor Lovewell stated that the previous code of conduct is a good guideline for the Council 
to start with.  

Councilor Bagley explained that he believes that there are some vague items that should be 
clarified such as under #5 where it says, “will cooperate”.   

Councilor Kelley stated that she would like to see something in the code of conduct regarding 
public posting on social media as a member of the Council.   

Councilor Lovewell stated that posting on a personal account is one thing, but posting on social 
media as a councilor or public official is another.   

Councilor Bagley stated that he agrees that it should include something but should not impede 
their freedom of speech.  

Council was instructed to send suggested edits to the City Manager for preparation of the Code 
of Conduct.   

c.  Discussion on adopting a resolution stating the elected officials’ position on MaineDOT 
Aroostook River Bridge Project 

Councilor Knight Phair asked if we know the results from the online survey. 

Manager Thompson explained that we have not heard anything regarding the results of the 
survey yet. She has recently attended a meeting with surrounding communities regarding the 
project and they are trying to chart a path forward.  She stated that she is requesting feedback 
from MeDOT from the online survey to try to gather a consensus of the peoples comments.  She 
was made aware that there were a lot of comments received through the survey and that the City 
has a link on the website for any information that they receive regarding the bridge project is 
found there for the public to help with transparency and to get the information out.   

Councilor Knight Phair explained that the people deserve transparency through this.   

Councilor Watson stated that he had heard that the reason for the repair rather than a replacement 
is because of how the funds were allocated at a state level.  He was told that there is money for 
repairs, but not for new builds.  

Councilor Knight Phair stated that they may also be trying to maintain this bridge because of its 
historical significance.  

Councilor Bagley explained that he does not think they did a good job at exhausting all of the 
options and that there has got to be other ways to get this done.   

Council Agenda Item #12: Reports and discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

12



January 12, 2026 
26-02 Pg. 4 

Councilor Bagley stated that the last Planning Board meeting had to be cancelled due to not 
having a quorum.  They have scheduled the next meeting for February 12th. 

Councilor Lovewell is looking forward to the upcoming year and the projects coming up.  

Deputy Mayor Smith stated that he is going to work on scheduling a capital budget meeting in 
the near future.  

Councilor Knight Phair stated that she is excited to get started.   

Councilor Kelley stated that she is eager to get projects started.  

Councilor Watson agreed and stated that he is ready to get started with upcoming projects.  

Mayor Boma stated that she is going to work to schedule a Public Safety Building meeting in the 
near future.  

Council Agenda Item #13: Next Regular Meeting is January 26, 2026 

Council Agenda Item #14: Executive Session(s)(May be called to discuss matters identified 
under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a.  Executive Session for union negotiations pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.D(Fire Department 
Union) 

Motion made by Councilor Lovewell, seconded by Councilor Watson to enter into executive 
session at 7:07PM for union negotiations pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.D Fire Department Union. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Council members present for Executive session: Mayor Boma, Deputy Mayor Smith, Councilors 
Kelley, Knight Phair, Lovewell, and Watson.  Councilor Bagley was present via Zoom.   

Staff present (in person): Fire Chief Lajoie, Finance Director Carl Grant, City Manager Penny 
Thompson. 

Attorney present via Zoom: Ann Freeman from Bernstein-Shur 

Council exited executive session at 8:23PM. 

Guidance was given, no action taken.  

Fire Chief Lajoie left the meeting.  

b.  Executive Session for union negotiations pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.D (Police Department 
Union) 

13



January 12, 2026 
26-02 Pg. 5 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to go into executive 
session at 8:25PM for union negotiations pursuant to 1 MRSA §405.6.D, Police Department 
Union. 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Yes, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

Councilor Kelley left the meeting. 

Elected Officials Present (in person): Councilor Lovewell, Deputy Mayor Smith, Mayor 
Courtney Boma, Councilor Knight Phair, and Councilor Watson 

Elected Officials Present via Teams: Councilor Bagley 

Staff present (in person): Finance Director Grant, Manager Thompson 

Staff present (via Teams): Patrolman Kevin St. Peter, Patrolman John Stewart 

Others present via Teams: Deb Batista and Philip Matthews representing the New England Police 
Benevolent Association, Inc. 

Council exited Executive Session at 9:18PM 

Guidance was given on Patrol contract that the modifications were acceptable, and a contract can 
be brought to the next City Council meeting for ratification. 

Guidance was given on the Sergeant contract. 

Guidance was given on staff request to advertise a hiring bonus for blue pin officers with 5+ 
years of experience. 

Council Agenda Item #15: Adjournment 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Watson to adjourn the meeting at 
9:20PM 

Roll Call Vote: D. Bagley – Yes, J. Kelley – Absent, L. Knight Phair – Yes, T. Lovewell – Yes, J. 
Smith – Yes, P. Watson – Yes, C. Boma– Yes (So voted) 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

 

 

 

14



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  January 26, 2026 
RE:  Age-Friendly Caribou presentation by Elizabeth Singer 
 

Since 2018, the City of Caribou has been designated by AARP as an Age-Friendly community. 
 
Tonight, Elizabeth Singer of Age-Friendly Caribou is here to present a summary of the 5-year progress report for 
the Age-Friendly Caribou program. 
 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
This is an informational agenda item, no action is required at tonight’s meeting. 

15



Caribou joined the network of AARP Age-Friendly Communities in 2018. In 2022 the Action Plan was
approved by Lifelong Maine and AARP. As we move forward with programs and meeting goals, we want to
evaluate our work and provide a progress report to AARP. This will allow Caribou to maintain its designation
as an Age Friendly Community, and will help ensure we are working towards our mission of creating a
welcoming, inclusive community that supports people of all ages in staying connected, independent, and
engaged throughout their lives. The action plan and more information on Caribou as an age-friendly
community can be found at https://livablemap.aarp.org/member/caribou-me

Overview

Summary of the 5-Year Progress Report 

Highlights & Success

Age-Friendly Caribou addresses all eight domains of livability, with particular emphasis
on social participation, respect and social inclusion, and community and health
services. Additional priority domains include transportation, communication and
information, and outdoor spaces and buildings.

Many of Age-Friendly Caribou’s most successful and well-received programs have
been implemented and expanded through strong community partnerships, including
Nurture by Nature, Caribou Parks and Recreation, and the Caribou Rotary Club.
These collaborations have been essential in extending the reach and impact of our
work. 

Examples of successful programs include:

Safe Steps – Sand Buckets for Seniors: More than 235 sand buckets delivered to
older adults since 2020 to improve winter safety and mobility. Has been able to
grow due to partnership with Caribou Rotary Club.
Senior Santa – Giving Tree: More than 650 gifts and greeting cards delivered to
older adults to promote connection and reduce social isolation.
Coffee Talk and Educational Programs: Regular opportunities for social
engagement, learning, and community connection.
Caribou Community Garden: An intergenerational space promoting wellness,
social participation, and access to fresh food.
Dementia-Friendly Community Support: Ongoing efforts to raise awareness,
reduce stigma, and support individuals living with dementia and their care
partners.

1 16

https://livablemap.aarp.org/member/caribou-me


Age-Friendly Caribou has required time to grow and build momentum. Launching programs during the height
of the COVID-19 pandemic presented significant challenges; however, over time, several initiatives have
gained traction and demonstrated meaningful community impact.

While there is strong interest in expanding programming and outreach, continued growth depends on the
availability of community members willing to help lead and sustain programs. As part of our ongoing
evaluation efforts, programs that experienced consistently low attendance—despite targeted and sustained
marketing—were discontinued to allow resources to be redirected more effectively.

In addition, as partner organizations began offering similar or overlapping programming, Age-Friendly Caribou
made a strategic decision to support and promote these existing efforts rather than duplicate services. This
collaborative approach has strengthened partnerships and reduced competition while ensuring continued
access to valuable resources for community members.

Challenges & Learnings

Programs transitioned to partner-led or discontinued include:

Tech Talk – One-on-One Technology Training: A similiar program is now
offered through the Agency on Aging, allowing Age-Friendly Caribou to
focus on outreach and promotion.
Healthy Living for ME Classes: Provided by the Agency on Aging at
Access Points, ensuring consistent delivery by a specialized provider.
Thursdays on Sweden Booth: Discontinued due to challenges engaging
residents in meaningful conversation amid high noise and activity levels.
Book Club: Discontinued due to low participation and the availability of
multiple existing book clubs within the community.

Community capacity is essential for sustainability. Expanding programming depends on the availability of
community members and volunteers willing to help lead and support initiatives. Programs are most successful
when there is shared ownership and leadership.

Regular evaluation strengthens impact. Ongoing assessment of participation and outcomes helped identify
programs that were not meeting community needs, allowing resources to be redirected toward more effective
efforts.

Collaboration is more effective than duplication. When partner organizations began offering similar programs,
Age-Friendly Caribou shifted its role to promotion and support rather than competing, strengthening
partnerships and expanding reach.

Program format and setting matter. Engagement is influenced by timing, location, and environment; some
settings made meaningful interaction difficult, reinforcing the importance of choosing accessible and
appropriate venues.

Flexibility improves long-term success. Being willing to adapt, pause, or discontinue programs has allowed
Age-Friendly Caribou to remain responsive to community needs and focused on its mission.

Lessons Learned

2 17



Collaboration & Connection         
Caribou—and Aroostook County as a whole—is known for its strong tradition of neighbors helping neighbors. Age-
Friendly Caribou believes this spirit of collaboration is essential to supporting organizations that are doing
meaningful work in our community. Rather than duplicating services, Age-Friendly Caribou actively promotes
programming offered by the Aroostook Agency on Aging, drives traffic to its website, and assists with programs as
needed to expand awareness and participation.

The Center for the Advancement of Rural Living (CARL) plays a critical role in advancing age-friendly initiatives
across the region. CARL leads the County Area Ride Service (CARS) volunteer driver and rider program and has
taken the lead on the Governor’s Cabinet on Aging Community Connector Program, which was piloted in Caribou.
Through this program, CARL has developed a community navigator program and a free Community Table lunch that
addresses social connection and food access. Age-Friendly Caribou supports these efforts and works alongside
CARL to help ensure these programs remain sustainable and continue to grow.

The Caribou Parks and Recreation Department offers several popular programs for older adults, including driver
training and the Take It Outside Series. In partnership with Cary Medical Center, Age-Friendly Caribou provides
increased financial sponsorship and supports outreach efforts to help expand participation in these programs.

Age Friendly Caribou is also connected with state and national programs, and program director, Elizabeth Singer,
participates in several advisory committees and coalitions that support healthy aging, reframing aging, growing the
age-friendly movement. 

Key Partners

AARP National & AARP Maine
Aroostook Agency on Aging
Aroostook Elder Law
Caribou Parks & Recreation
Caribou Public Library
Center for the Advancement of Rural Living
Lifelong Maine
Nurture by Nature
Maine Council on Aging
Positive Aging Community
Solo Aging Resource Center
University of Maine Center on Aging 
University of New England - Aging ME GWEP

3 18



Age-Friendly Caribou looks forward to continuing to strengthen and expand its role as a connector,
collaborator, and advocate for a community that supports people of all ages. Building on the progress made to
date, the initiative will focus on growing programs, developing new resources, and supporting the
organizations and volunteers who are already doing meaningful work in Caribou and across Aroostook
County.

Next Steps & Future Plans

Key priorities moving forward include:

Expanding access to services and programs by working closely with volunteer groups
and partnering with local and regional organizations to increase opportunities
available to residents of all ages and abilities.

Promoting health, activity, and engagement through programs and initiatives that
support physical well-being, social connection, and lifelong participation in the
community.

Improving communication and access to information by increasing awareness of
community activities and making it easier for residents to understand how and where
to access services and supports.

Building on community assets by leveraging existing resources, partnerships, and
strengths to make Caribou a more inclusive and welcoming place to live, work, and
age.

Addressing service gaps through collaboration and volunteerism by supporting
volunteer-led initiatives with technical assistance, outreach, and promotion when
unmet needs are identified.

Ensuring inclusive and equitable access by striving to make programs supported or
promoted by Age-Friendly Caribou available to residents regardless of ability to pay.

Through these efforts, Age-Friendly Caribou will continue to advance its mission of
creating a welcoming, inclusive community where people of all ages can stay connected,
independent, and meaningfully engaged throughout their lives.

Program Ideas & Direction

Solo Aging support and connection for those living along.
Expand on Dementia Friendly programming and support.
Reframing Aging programs and education to help curb ageism and build up positive aging.
Healthy Aging programs that support health and wellness including fall prevention, mental wellbeing, and
more.
Handy Helper adaptive tool resource guide to help people with mobility issues stay independent and self-
sufficient.
Disaster preparedness education and support CARL’s efforts to collaborate on preparedness activities
including a Go Bag for older adults. 
 AI assistive technology - distribute Amazon Alexa Dots with light bulbs and plugs, and provide education on
benefits of this technology. 
Provide more educational programming on topics like driving safety, AI risks and benefits, story telling, care
planning, etc. 

4 19



Highlights From Over the Years
Community Garden
Reading to children’s group at the library for Older American’s Month
Elizabeth Singer presenting at the Lifelong Maine Confernence on social media/marketing
Partner educational lunches with A.R. Gould Hospital
Dementia patient training with the Caribou FD
Converse with a Nurse breakfast
Dementia-Friendly Mindfulness Walk at Cary Trails
Age-Friendly Resource Display at Cary Health Fair
Scams & Fraud Prevention Luncheon (partnership with Cary Medical Center’s Seniority Program)

5 20



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  January 26, 2026 

  RE:   December 2025 Financial Report, presented by Finance Director Carl Grant  
 
 

 
Finance Director Carl Grant will present the December 2025 Financial Reports. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
After the presentation, please make a motion “to accept the December 2025 Financial Report as presented”. 
 
Second 
 
Discussion 
 
Vote 
 
 

21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



City Manager's Report
January 26, 2026

 

Economic Projects

  

River Front - Powerplants Diesel Plant - Work is ongoing. Steam Plant - Kick off meeting will be held February 2.

Broadband Initiative No new updates.

Ogren Dump Solar Project No new updates.

Events and Marketing The Snow Bowl will be held at Spud Speedway February 27 to March 1. More details are available at the Spud Speedway website.

Landbank No new updates.

Chapter 13 Rewrite No new updates.

Federal American Rescue Plan Act No new updates.

Blight Cleanup No new updates.

Birdseye Cleanup Brownfields RLF project is ongoing.

Caribou Development Committee No new updates.

River Front - Master Plan
The Riverfront Master Plan is underway. There is a survey online that we encourage residents to complete to share their vision for an 
improved Caribou Riverfront.

Façade Improvement Program Already receiving inquiries for the Spring 2026 funding cycle.

Aldrich ATV/Snowmobile Storage No new updates.

Caribou Economic Growth Council CEGC met on 1/22. 

Business Outreach Eric is working with several possible businesses.

43



Other Administrative Projects

Tax Acquired Property Policy No new updates.

Nylander No new updates.

Fire Structural Work No new updates.

Fire Station Renovations Design Development phase on tonight's meeting.

Police Station Project kick-off 1/22. Potential sites will be visited soon.

River Road A River Road land owner has reached out.

Investment Policy No new updates.

Cable Franchise Renewal No new updates.

Airport Committee meeting held 1/13/2026.

Personnel Policy No new updates.

New LED Street lights No new updates.

Comp Plan Update No new updates

LD 2003 Implementation No new updates.

15 Prospect Street No new updates.

Water Street Fire The ESA Phase I with funding provided by EPA Brownfields funding through Maine DEP to assess the site was held 1/15/2026.

Age-Friendly Efforts On tonight's agenda.

Personnel Changes The Caribou Fire department is hiring.

DOT Village Partnership Final Report has been sent by TYLin.

Aroostook Waste Solutions
Please dispose of rechargeable batteries properly. You can take them to Lowes or the Tri-Community Landfill. (Do not dispose of with 
your waste). Keep an eye on your rechargable batteries while charging. Unplug chargers when not in use.

Cary Medical Center No new updates.

Other Updates Any new updates on the Aroostook River Bridge project will be posted on our website.

Administrative Approvals Liquor license for Rendezvous Restaurant & American Legion Post # 15.

44



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  January 26, 2026 
RE:  Discussion on adopting a 2026 Code of Conduct by resolution 
 

In November 2024, the citizens of Caribou voted to amend the Caribou City Charter, stating, “The City Council 
will adopt by resolution, a Code of Conduct, annually, prior to January 31. This Code of Conduct will apply to 
the members of the Caribou City Council.”1 
 
At the last City Council meeting, I presented the Code of Conduct that was adopted by Resolution by the City 
Council in 2025. After the meeting, I asked the members of the City Council for feedback on this topic. 
 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
This is an item for discussion at tonight’s meeting. If there is a consensus on language of a resolution and code 
of conduct, it can be brought back for adoption at the next regular City Council meeting. 

 
1 Caribou City Charter, Section 2.04  45



CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL 
CODE OF CONDUCT 

ADOPTED: February 24, 2025 
 

Section 1: Purpose 

The City of Caribou is committed to the highest ethical standards and practices, protecting 
employees, partners, volunteers, elected and appointed officials, vendors, and the organization from 
unethical, illegal or damaging actions and statements by individuals, either knowingly or 
unknowingly. When the City of Caribou acts in an ethical manner, addresses issues proactively, and 
uses best business judgment and practices, it establishes a positive reputation and protect the 
interests of our Citizens. The purpose of this policy is to establish a culture of transparency, 
openness, trust, fairness, equity, and to emphasize the employees’, citizens’, and committee 
members’ expectation to be treated ethically and with fair business practices. This policy will serve 
to guide behavior and to ensure ethical conduct throughout City government, operations, and in 
municipal facilities. Effective ethics is a team effort involving the participation and support of every 
City of Caribou employee as well as all appointed or elected officials.  

 

Section 2: Code of Conduct 

The Code of Conduct is designed to define the behavior, manners and courtesy expected of City 
Council members as they interact with each other, City staff, and their constituents while 
representing the City of Caribou. City Council members shall demonstrate honesty and integrity in 
every action and statement. 

1. We will abide by the City Charter and the Constitution and laws of the State of Maine and agree to 
confine our actions as members of the City Council to the authority granted by those documents. 

2. We acknowledge that we are bound by the City Charter to act as a body and have no individual 
authority to act outside of the meetings of the City Council. 

3. We will solicit and listen to input from all our residents and endeavor to be as responsive as 
possible. 

4. We agree that principled dissent and debate among City Council members and the public is 
encouraged. Discussions should be conducted in a professional manner with all participants 
treating each other with civility and respect. 

5. We acknowledge that we act as a body and as such, all members will cooperate in the 
implementation of City Council decisions. 

6. We will respect the proper roles of elected officials and City staff in ensuring open and effective 
government. 

7. We will not publicly criticize City staff and will work through the City Manager in support of the day-
to-day administration of the City. 

46



8. We will keep all matters discussed in Executive Sessions strictly confidential. 

9. We will follow the City Charter’s guidance on Conflicts of Interest and agree to avoid situations 
where we might derive or appear to derive personal benefit from actions or decisions made in our 
official capacity. 

 

Section 3: Compliance and Enforcement 

The City Council shall annually review the Code of Conduct for relevancy and applicability. The 
intentional actions by City Council members that do not follow proper conduct will be addressed by 
the City Council. City Council members are obliged to point out infractions of the Code of Conduct 
at the time they occur. If the offenses continue, then the matter should be referred to the Mayor. If 
the Mayor is the individual whose actions are in question, then the matter should be referred to the 
Deputy Mayor. 

 

Section 4: Adoption 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL that the members of the 
Caribou City Council hereby agree to abide by the terms of the attached Code of Conduct. 

DATE ENACTED: February 24, 2025   

 

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURES 

 

_____________________________________  _____________________________________ 
Councilor Daniel Bagley    Councilor Jennifer Kelley 
 

 

_____________________________________  _____________________________________ 
Councilor Tamara Lovewell    Deputy Mayor Jody Smith 
 

 

_____________________________________  _____________________________________ 
Councilor Joan Theriault    Councilor Paul Watson 
 

 

_____________________________________  _____________________________________ 
Mayor Courtney Boma     Attest: City Clerk Danielle Brissette 
       Municipal Seal 

47



 

 

 

Resolution #1, 2025 Series 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  
Establishing Code of Conduct for 

Members of the Caribou City Council 
 

 
WHEREAS, members of the City of Caribou City Council are committed to making our community a 
safe, confident, prosperous, and enjoyable place to live, work, and visit; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is a great honor to serve the City, and with that honor comes great responsibility and a 
duty to hold ourselves accountable to our fellow residents; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Caribou City Council Charter committee proposed that the Caribou City Council adopt 
a Code of Conduct for members on an annual basis; and 
 
WHEREAS, at the municipal election held on November 5, 2024, a majority of voters cast their votes to 
amend the Caribou City Charter to require that the Caribou City Council adopt a Code of Conduct by 
resolution prior to January 31 of each year; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL that the members 
of the Caribou City Council hereby agree to abide by the terms of the attached Code of Conduct. 
 
This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou 
this 24th day of February 2025.  
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Courtney Boma, Mayor    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk   
 

[City Seal]   

48



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  January 26, 2026 

  RE:   Fire Station Project, Design Development Approval 
 
 

 
Amanda Jandreau is the Project Manager on the Fire Station project, and a Senior Structural Engineer at Harriman. 
She will attend the meeting to discuss the Design Development documents, budget, and narrative for the Fire 
Station project. 
 
Complete information was provided for your review at the previous City Council meeting. A selection of 
documents are provided in this packet, along with the budget. 
 
If these drawings are acceptable, the project can then move forward to the Construction Documents phase, and 
then the project can be put out for bid. 
 
Suggested action: 
 
Please make a motion to “approve the Design Development Documents as presented by Harriman” 
 
Second 
 
Discussion 
 
Vote 

49



50



51



52



53



54



Caribou Fire Station PCM (SD) Harriman 

Deducts

Adjusted PCM (DD) 2023 Costs Notes

DIVISION 1 - GENERAL CONDITIONS 0 0 -$                   

DIVISION 2 - DEMOLITION $ 108,959.85 $ 19,724.00 89,235.85$       106,134.55$     98,705.13$       no new opening at chief's existing office

DIVISION 2 - SITE WORK $ 159,127.98 $ 94,106.00 65,021.98$       29,936.52$       27,840.96$       no new retaining wall

DIVISION 3 - BUILDING CONCRETE $ 56,626.67 $ 54,738.78 1,887.89$         1,750.00$         1,627.50$         no new retaining wall

DIVISION 4 - MASONRY $ 12,600.00 $ 12,600.00 -$                   5,625.00$         5,231.25$         no new opening at chief's existing office

DIVISION 5 - STEEL $ 6,875.00 $ 3,000.00 3,875.00$         7,800.00$         7,254.00$         no new opening at chief's existing office

DIVISION 6 - CARPENTRY $ 4,901.00 $ 0.00 4,901.00$         3,101.00$         2,883.93$         

DIVISION 7 - THERMAL MOISTURE PROTECTION $ 11,803.00 $ 0.00 11,803.00$       11,803.00$       10,976.79$       

DIVISION 8 - OPENINGS $ 99,300.00 $ 34,500.00 64,800.00$       82,600.00$       76,818.00$       can reduce by another 8000 if we make new 

windows in Lions an alternate

DIVISION 9 - FINISHES $ 240,783.13 $ 32,960.00 207,823.13$     222,547.13$     206,968.83$     no epoxy flooring

DIVISION 10 - SPECIALTIES $ 49,132.50 $ 6,650.00 42,482.50$       43,157.50$       40,136.48$       reuse existing fire extinguishers, defib cabinet, 

reduced benches to 2

DIVISION 11 - EQUIPMENT $ 24,800.00 $ 7,300.00 17,500.00$       24,800.00$       23,064.00$       

DIVISION 12 - FURNISHINGS $ 1,728.00 $ 0.00 1,728.00$         1,728.00$         1,607.04$         this does not include murphy beds, reach out 

for quote 

DIVISION 12 - CASEWORK AND MILLWORK $ 17,100.00 $ 0.00 17,100.00$       50,400.00$       46,872.00$       

DIVISION 13 - SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION 0 0 -$                   -$                   

DIVISION 14 - CONVEYING 0 0 -$                   -$                   

DIVISION 21 - SPRINKLER $ 136,000.00 $ 27,200.00 108,800.00$     108,800.00$     101,184.00$     

DIVISION 22 - PLUMBING $ 148,560.00 $ 5,000.00 143,560.00$     156,476.24$     145,522.90$     

DIVISION 23 - HVAC $ 463,769.62 $ 0.00 463,769.62$     442,660.98$     411,674.71$     

DIVISION 26 - ELECTRICAL $ 406,923.23 $ 71,502.00 335,421.23$     326,488.38$     303,634.19$     reduced number of fixtures and more economical 

type, can possibly make FA in Lions an alternate

CONSTRUCTION SUBTOTAL 1,948,989.98$  1,579,709.20$  1,625,808.30$  1,512,001.72$  

GENERAL CONDITIONS 330,000.00$     330,000.00$     330,000.00$     330,000.00$     

CONSTRUCTION SUBTOTAL 2,278,989.98$  1,909,709.20$  1,955,808.30$  1,842,001.72$  

DESIGN / ESTIMATE CONTINGENCY (5%) 113,949.50$     95,485.46$       97,790.42$       92,100.09$       

CONSTRUCTION SUBTOTAL 2,392,939.48$  2,005,194.66$  2,053,598.72$  1,934,101.80$  

OVERHEAD AND PROFIT (3%) 71,788.18$       60,155.84$       61,607.96$       58,023.05$       

CONSTRUCTION SUBTOTAL 2,464,727.66$  2,065,350.50$  2,115,206.68$  1,992,124.86$  

BOND AND INSURANCE (2%) 49,294.55$       41,307.01$       42,304.13$       39,842.50$       

CONSTRUCTION SUBTOTAL 2,514,022.22$  2,106,657.51$  2,157,510.81$  2,031,967.36$  

ESCALATION - ASSUME Spring 2026 START (3%) 75,420.67$       63,199.73$       64,725.32$       60,959.02$       

CONSTRUCTION GRAND TOTAL 2,589,442.88$  2,169,857.24$ 2,222,236.13$ 2,092,926.38$ 

55



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   January 26, 2026 
Re:   2026 Contract for Computer Network Support Services with Oak Leaf  

  

The City of Caribou has received the 2026 Contract for Computer Network Support Services with Oak 
Leaf. There is no change in the annual cost from 2025 to 2026. 

Oak Leaf provides the City with fantastic service, and we are very pleased with his knowledge and 
willingness to stop by anytime to help with our computer issues. 

 

Suggested Action 

Please review and if acceptable, please make a motion to approve the 2026 Contract for 
Computer Network Support Services with Oak Leaf and authorize City Manager Penny Thompson to 
execute the contract for 2026. 
 
Second.  
 
Discussion.  
 
Vote. 
 
 

 

56



57



58



59



60



61



62



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   January 26, 2026 
Re:   Acceptance of 3-year contract with NEPBA Local 605 

  

Negotiations between the City of Caribou and the NEPBA Local 605 (patrolman’s union) have 
resulted in a temporary agreement which can be accepted by a majority vote of the Caribou City 
Council this evening. 

If there is any discussion needed, this item could be discussed in executive session under MRSA, 
Title 1 §405.6.B. 

 

Suggested Action: 

Please make a motion to accept the contract as presented. Second the motion and after any 
discussion, please vote to approve. 

63



AGREEMENT 
BY AND BETWEEN 

 

                 CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE 
AND THE 

 
 

 
NEW ENGLAND 

POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION 
LOCAL 605 

 
January 1, 2026 through December 31, 2028

P a
g e

0 

64



INDEX Will be adjusted on the final copy. 

ARTICLE 1 – PREAMBLE 2 

ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION 2 

ARTICLE 3 - UNION SECURITY - DUES CHECK – OFF 2 

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND DEPARTMENTAL RULES 2 

ARTICLE 5 - STRIKES AND SLOWDOWNS 3 

ARTICLE 6 – SENIORITY 3 

ARTICLE 7 - DUTIES OF EMPLOYEES 4 

ARTICLE 8 - HOURS OF WORK - WORK WEEK – WAGES 4 

ARTICLE 9 – USE OF PRIVATE AUTOMOBILE 8 

ARTICLE 10 – INSURANCE 8 

ARTICLE 11 – PENSIONS                                                                                              9 

ARTICLE 12 – LEAVES OF ABSENCE 10 

ARTICLE 13 - CLOTHING 12 

ARTICLE 14 – INDEMNIFICATION AND LEGAL SERVICES 12 

ARTICLE 15 – PROBATION PERIOD – RESIDENCE REQUIREMENT 13 

ARTICLE 16 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 13 

ARTICLE 17 – SAVING CLAUSE 14 

ARTICLE 18 – DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES 14 

ARTICLE 19 – UNION ACTIVITIES 15 

ARTICLE 20 – BULLETIN BOARDS 16 

ARTICLE 21 – TRAINING OPPORTUNITY 16 

ARTICLE 22 - EXAMINATIONS 16 

ARTICLE 23 – EMPLOYEE / MANAGEMENT CONFERENCES 17 

ARTICLE 24 – GENDER NEUTRAL LANGUAGE 17 

ARTICLE 25 – DEFECTIVE EQUIPMENT 17 

ARTICLE 26 – TERM OF THE AGREEMENT 17 

TABLE 1  – WAGE CHART – PATROL 19 

TABLE 1  – WAGE CHART – DISPATCH 20 

  

P a
g e

1 

65



This Agreement is entered into by and between the City of Caribou, Maine, hereinafter referred to as the 
Employer, and NEPBA Local Union No. 605, a member of the New England Police Benevolent 
Association, Inc., hereinafter referred to as the Union. 
 

THE PARTIES MUTUALLY AGREE AS FOLLOWS 
 

ARTICLE 1 - PREAMBLE 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Public Employees Labor Relations Law (Title 26, 
M.R. S.A., Sections 961 through 974 1964, as amended), the parties hereto have entered into this 
Agreement in order to establish mutual rights, preserve proper employee morale and to promote 
effective and efficient municipal operations. 

ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION 
The City hereby recognizes that the Union is the sole and exclusive representative of all 
Patrolmen and Dispatchers in the Caribou Police Department, except as provided herein, for the 
purpose of bargaining with respect to wages, hours of work, and working conditions. 

The City agrees not to enter into any agreement or contracts with those employees covered under this 
agreement, individually or collectively, which in any way conflicts with the terms and provisions of 
this Agreement. Any such Agreement shall be null and void. 

ARTICLE 3 - UNION SECURITY - DUES CHECK - OFF 
All Policemen and Dispatchers of the Caribou Police Department shall have the right to join or not join 
the Union. No employee shall be favored or discriminated against either by the City or by the Union 
because of his/her membership or non-membership in the Union. The Union recognizes its responsibility 
as bargaining agent and agrees to represent all employees covered under this agreement without 
discrimination, interference, restraint, or coercion. 

 
The City recognizes that employees who are part of the Union may have obligations to pay monthly 
dues to the Union. The City agrees, upon receipt of individually signed authorization cards to deduct the 
Union established dues and or fees, uniforms assessments and initiation fees, etc. from the wages of 
each Union member employee. The City will then remit such check-off to the Secretary-Treasurer of 
Local #605 before the first day of the month immediately next succeeding. Such remittance shall be 
accompanied by an itemized statement showing the name of each employee and the amount checked off 
for dues 

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS AND DEPARTMENTAL RULES 
The City retains all right and authority to manage and direct its employees, except as otherwise 
specifically provided in this Agreement. Such rights shall include and shall not be limited to: operation 
and management of the City's Police Department; the direction of the working force; the right to hire, 
discharge and discipline; to change assignments; to promote or demote, to suspend, to reduce or expand 
the working forces; to transfer, to maintain discipline, to establish work schedules, to introduce new, 
improved or changed methods of work to facilities; to change, combine or eliminate jobs, work tasks, or 
positions. Pa

ge
2 

66



The City's not exercising of such functions in a particular way, shall not be deemed a waiver of its right to 
exercise such function or preclude the City from exercising the same in some other way not in conflict 
with the express provisions of this agreement. 

 
Authorized agents of the Union shall have access to the Employer's establishment during normal business 
hours, from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Monday through Friday for the purpose of adjusting disputes, 
investigating working conditions, collection of dues and ascertaining that the Agreement is being adhered 
to, provided, however, that there is no interruption of the working schedule. For the purpose of scheduled 
meetings, a twenty-four (24) hour notice to the Chief will be required before this Article can be 
implemented. 

ARTICLE 5 - STRIKES AND SLOWDOWNS 

For the duration of this Agreement, the Union, its officers, representatives, stewards and members shall 
not, directly or indirectly, authorize, instigate, cause, and encourage, ratify, support or suggest or condone, 
nor shall any employee, directly or indirectly take part in any strike, slowdown, or stoppage of work, 
boycott, picketing, or other interruption of work, or take any action or inaction which would involve 
suspension or interference with the normal work of the City Department, mass resignation, or absenteeism. 

Failure or refusal on the part of any employee or agent to comply with any provision of this Article 5 
shall be cause for whatever disciplinary action, including suspension or discharge, deemed necessary by 
the City. In consideration of no-strike pledge by the Union and employees, the City shall not lockout 
employees for the duration of this Agreement. Neither the violation of any provision of this Agreement 
nor the commission of any act constituting an unfair labor practice or otherwise made unlawful by any 
federal, state or local law shall excuse employees, the Union or the City from their obligations under the 
provisions of this Article 5. Alleged violation of any provision of this Article 5 is appealable 
immediately by either party, to the Superior Court, within and for the County of Aroostook and State of 
Maine for the purpose of securing specific performance of the provisions of this Article 5. 

ARTICLE 6 - SENIORITY 

Section l. Seniority List 
A seniority list shall be established naming all the employees covered by this Agreement, with the 
employees with the greatest seniority (years of service) listed first. Seniority shall be based upon the 
employee's last date of hire. Seniority, for the purpose of this Agreement, shall be interpreted to mean 
length of continuous service with the city only and shall be a major factor in all matters affecting work- 
shift assignments, layoff, recall and shall be the governing factor for vacation preference, provided all 
other qualifications are equal. 

 
Section 2. Layoffs According to Seniority 
In the event it becomes necessary for the City to layoff employees for any reason, employees shall be 
laid off in the inverse order of their seniority, by classification with bumping rights. All affected 
employees shall receive a two (2) calendar week advance notice of layoff, and the City shall meet with 
the affected employees prior to the actual occurrence of layoff. Employees shall be recalled from layoff 
according to their seniority. No new employees shall be hired until all employees on layoff have been 
afforded recall notices. 

Pa
ge

3 

67



Section 3. List Updates 
The seniority list shall be made available to the Union within thirty (30) days after the signing of this 
Agreement or upon a new hire within the department and posted on the Department bulletin board. 
Corrections to the seniority list shall be made within thirty (30) days of such posting. After such thirty 
(30) day period, the seniority list shall be deemed correct. 

Section 4. Seniority Upon Returning to Work After Retirement 
As stated in the Maine Public Employees Retirement System (PLD Plan), a Bona fide termination is 
required under State of Maine and Federal Law for an individual to retire. For contractual purposes a 
"Bona fide termination" to draw state retirement benefits will not constitute a break in continuous 
service as prescribed in section l, nor affect seniority upon returning to work in the department. 

ARTICLE 7 - DUTIES OF EMPLOYEES 

The duties of the employees covered by this Agreement shall be the enforcement of City ordinances, 
state and federal statutes, the patrolling of the City streets and highways for crime prevention and traffic 
control and the preservation of life and property, and the carrying out of the duties normally required of 
a police department. However, nothing herein shall be construed as diminishing the current duties of the 
employees, duties to those consistent with prior practices, or as precluding the assignment of new duties 
to carry out the general purposes served by present duties as changing conditions or technology warrant. 

Employees may be permitted to perform services for private interest and be gainfully employed outside 
the department, provided, prior approval and consent thereof is obtained from the Chief of Police. 

ARTICLE 8 - HOURS OF WORK - WORK WEEK – WAGES 
 

Section 1 a. 12 Hour Shift Cycle 
The normal work week for all employees covered by this Agreement shall be an average six-week cycle 
of forty-two (42) hours per week which shall be guaranteed each week provided the employee reports for 
work each day of his/her schedule. A shift shall be defined as twelve (12) hours worked within a 24-hour 
day. 
 
Section 1 b. The regular work tour shall be twelve (12) hours for those members assigned to a patrol and 
dispatch function unless changed by the Chief of Police. The two (2) daily work shifts shall be 6:00 a.m. 
to 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. 

 
Patrolmen will be permitted to swap shifts with other Patrolmen with the approval of the Chief or 
appropriate Supervisor with at least 24 hours prior notification. No employee shall work more than 
eighteen (18) hours in a twenty-four (24) hour period. 
 

 MON TUES WED THURS FRI SAT SUN 
Squad 1 DS DS OD OD DS DS DS 

 OD OD DS DS OD OD OD 
Squad 2 NS NS OD OD NS NS NS 

 OD OD NS NS OD OD OD 
Squad 3 OD OD DS DS OD OD OD 

 NS NS OD OD NS NS NS 
Squad 4 OD OD NS NS OD OD OD 

 DS DS OD OD DS DS DS 
 
 

Pa
ge

4 

68



Section 2._Wages 
For base pay purposes, 40 hours will be paid at straight time, and 2 hours will be at time and a half or at 3 
hours straight time. The salary for each employee, for forty (40) hours, shall be as shown in Table I below, 
for the period of January 1, 2026 through December 31, 2028. The parties agree to do yearly Market 
Adjustments, prior to adding the COLA, of $50.00 to each weekly step (Table 1), effective January 1, 
2026, January 1, 2027, and January 1, 2028. 

 
The wages in Table 1 (see attached) shall be increased by a Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) as 
follows:  
 Effective January 1, 2026  Three percent (3%) 
 Effective January 1, 2027 Three percent (3%) 
 Effective January 1, 2028 Three percent (3%) 

 
A new Patrolman that is a graduate of the Maine Criminal Justice Academy will typically be hired at the 
one (l) year base salary and will progress through the remaining steps each year thereafter. 
Administration shall have the ability to place new hires into the wage scale dependent upon factors such 
as previous experience, number of years out of the Academy, educational attainment, etc. No placement 
shall be made greater than the number of applicable years after graduating the Academy between one 
and twenty. The base wage as outlined in the contract will advance successively by one step each year 
until top step has been reached. Upon reaching the 5-year scale, there shall be no early advancement on 
the longevity pay (after eight years) as this benefit is defined as a seniority benefit. There will be no 
advance in any other seniority benefit. 

 
In addition to the base weekly salaries listed in Table 1 (attached): 

 
l. Shift Supervisor Pay: An Officer assigned the responsibility for supervising a shift shall be paid 

$1.50 per hour for all hours worked as shift supervisor. 

2. Shift Differential — All bargaining unit members assigned to work during the hours of 6:00 
P.M. 6:00 A.M. shall be paid $1.00 (01/01/26); $1.05 (01.01/27); and $1.15 (01/01/28) per 
hour for hours worked during those time periods. 

 
3. Educational Incentive: The department will excuse a person, when necessary, from a portion 

of a shift to attend an approved school and provide coverage, when necessary, to replace the 
vacancy. 

4. Section 3. Base Hourly Rates 

The employee's base hourly rate shall be computed by dividing forty (40) into the employee' s base 
weekly salary as set forth in Section 2 above. 

Effective 01/01/27, a bargaining unit member who has more than eight (8) years and less than twelve 
(12) years of service shall receive an increase of $20 per week added to their base wages.  

A member who has more than twelve (12) years and less than sixteen (16) years of service shall 
receive an increase of an additional $20 per week ($40 total) added to their base wages.  

A member who has more than sixteen (16) years and less than twenty (20) years of service shall 
receive an increase of an additional $20 per week ($60 total) added to their base wages.  

A member who has more than twenty (20) years of service shall receive an additional $20 per week 
($80 total) added to their base wages.  

 

 

Pa
ge

6 

69



Section 4. Time and a Half Pay 
Employees shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1½) times their base hourly rate for all hours 
defined in Section 5.1 — 5.3 as follows: 

 
l. All hours worked in excess of the employee's normal work week shall be paid for at one and 

one-half (1½) times the employee's base hourly rate. 
2. Worked on the employee's regular scheduled days off. 
3. Compensated for special duties and off-duty court time as provided for in Sections "F", through 

"I" below. 
 

Section 5. Payroll Week 
The payroll week shall start at 6:00 a.m. on Tuesday and end at 6:00 a.m. the following Tuesday 

 
Section 6. Special Duties: 

 
Full – time employees who work on any other function shall be paid at the rate of one and one half 
times their current hourly rate, including for grant funded functions, with a guaranteed minimum of 
not less than four (4) hours for each assignment. The City of Caribou shall, to the best of their ability, 
apply for any applicable or other overtime grant, OUI, seatbelt grants and any other such grants 
awarded by the Bureau of Highway & Traffic Division, or other such agencies, provided any grant 
match can be met if applicable in the current fiscal year. An officer's presence within jurisdiction 
required by and reimbursed by any governmental agency or grant shall be offered to regular full-time 
employees first. 

Section 7. Overtime and Special Duty Assignments: 
All available patrolman’s overtime and special duty shifts will be offered first to Full Time Patrol 
Officers until 48 hours prior to the occurrence. If not filled, the Chief or Shift Supervisor shall contact 
Full Time Officers on a shift-seniority basis prior to calling Reserve Officers. If no Full-time Officer 
agrees to serve, it will then be offered to Reserve Officers at the Reserve's normal rate of pay. Any 
Officer canceling overtime or special duty shifts inside of the 48 hours will be responsible for finding a 
replacement, except in the case of illness or emergency.  

 

Section 8. Court Time: 
Any employee covered by this Agreement who is required to attend Court outside of his/her regular 
work shift shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours of pay at his/her applicable hourly overtime rate 
for such attendance. If an employee is notified prior to 5 p.m. that his/her presence is not needed for 
the next day, no court time shall be allowed. Court time contiguously annexed to the end or beginning 
of a shift of which the Officer was working or is scheduled to work will be paid at the rate of one and 
one half (l ½) times the Officer's regular hourly rate for the actual number of hours spent in court 
beyond the end of the regular shift or before the regular scheduled shift. If he is required to stay in 
attendance at such court for more than two (2) hours, in any one day, he shall be paid for the actual 
hours spent that day. Provided, however, that any and all fees, compensation or allowances, to which 
any officer is or would be entitled to for such Court Time, as provided for by statute of Court order, 
shall be turned over and paid to the City, and not retained by the officer. 
 
The employee shall have an eight (8) hour break between the end of court proceedings and the start 
of their shift, providing their shift would begin on the same day as court.  
 

 

 

 

Pa
ge

7 
P 

70



Section 9. Superior Court Time: 
Officers required to attend superior court proceedings will be scheduled only for day shifts during the 
trial proceedings. Actual hours worked for the Superior Court appearance will be recorded and hours 
worked will be reconciled to the shift paid. Hours in Superior Court greater than the regularly scheduled 
shift-hours will be paid at time and a half (l ½). For court time less than regularly scheduled shift hours, 
the net will be owed to the City and may be paid back from comp time and or overtime earned on an 
equivalent hourly basis. The "owed" time will not be subtracted from the officer's normal weekly pay 
period unless requested by the officer. The Chief shall track this time as he does comp time or other 
time owed or accrued. The employee shall have an eight (8) hour break between the end of court 
proceedings and the start of their shift, providing their shift would begin on the same day as court. 

An employee scheduled to appear in Superior Court outside of the City limits of Caribou shall receive a 
meal allowance if applicable. 

 
Section 10. Holiday Pay. 

 

The following holidays shall be paid for all employees covered by this Agreement 
 

l. New Year's Day 6. Juneteenth Day 10. Veteran’s Day 
2. Martin Luther King 7. Independence Day 11. Thanksgiving Day 
3. President's Day 8. Labor Day      12. Christmas Day 
4. Patriot's Day 
5. Memorial Day 

9. Indigenous Peoples 
Day 

 

 

An employee who is not scheduled to work a holiday will receive holiday pay at one time their salary for 
that shift. (one time base) 

 
An employee who is scheduled to work on a holiday as listed above, shall be paid two times their hourly 
rate for that shift. (two times base) 

 
An employee who is called in to duty on a holiday, and it is not a scheduled work day, shall be paid at the 
rate of two times the employee's hourly rate plus the base rate. (three times base). 

 
Section 11 Comp Time: 
Comp time can be accumulated up to 40 hours in lieu of overtime. This comp time has to be used in 
increments of shifts or four (4) hour blocks. These exchange days may be taken only when the shift is 
adequately covered by other regularly scheduled personnel. Accumulated Comp Time shall be maintained 
by the city and made available with employees' paychecks. 

 
Section 12. Direct Deposit. 
All employees are required to enroll in the Employer's direct deposit program. 

ARTICLE 9 - USE OF PRIVATE AUTOMOBILE 
When an employee is required by the City to use his/her private automobile for police or City business, 
the employee shall be paid for the use of his/her car at the rate established annually by the City Council. 

ARTICLE 10 – INSURANCE 
Section 1:  

As part of the fringe benefit package offered to qualifying employees, the City currently makes  
 
 71



available health insurance coverage to all regular full-time employees. The City also makes available 
the option of dependent coverage to qualifying employees as an additional fringe benefit. The City will 
pay 80% of the total premium and the employee will pay 20% of the total premium of the plan/s. 

 
The employer shall provide employees with a prescription drug card as long as it is offered under the group 
insurance plan/s. 
 
The Plan in effect shall remain in effect during the life of this Contract or until such time as the Working 
Group recommends a change so ratified by an affirmative vote of the Union and the City Council 

 
The Plan shall be Maine Municipal Employee Health Trust — 80/20 POS-200 (Baxter) or PPO-500 
(Katahdin). The City shall offer a Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) in conjunction with both plans to 
cover qualifying medical expenses. 

 
The City will provide HRA funding in the amount of 50% of the maximum Out-of-Pocket expense for a 
Single, Single with Children, or Family Coverage per year for the POS-200 Plan (Baxter). 

 
The City will provide HRA funding in the amount of 60% of the maximum Out-of-Pocket expense for a 
Single, Single with Children, or Family Coverage per year for the PPO-500 Plan (Katahdin). 
Employees may choose, during the open enrollment period, from the above listed plan options. 

 
Any unused HRA Funding amount in a calendar year can be rolled over in the HRA to the following 
year up to the maximum out of pocket cost for the selected plan. The maximum amount available in the 
HRA at any time will be the maximum out of pocket cost for the selected plan. 

 
The City shall offer an incentive/stipend to members of the bargaining unit to opt out of taking the standard 
offer of the health insurance plan of choice. This is an option for employees not to take the standard offer 
insurance in which the member must provide proof of other insurance plan. The incentive will be 
comprised of a cash incentive to be paid directly to the employee in each payroll period. 
 
Section 2 – Maine Paid Family Medical Leave Act 
The Maine Paid Family and Medical Leave (PFML) law rules and payroll withholdings began on January 
1, 2025. Benefits are scheduled to become available on May 1, 2026.  
 
The State-mandated contribution per employee is one percent (1%) of an individual’s wages. For the term 
of this Agreement, the City will pay the required one percent (1%) of the contribution. Any change to the 
State-mandated contribution rate between 2026 and 2028 shall allow the parties to meet for the sole 
purpose of negotiating any proposed changes to the contribution split.  
 

ARTICLE 11 - PENSIONS 
 

The City agrees to continue to participate in the Social Security Retirement system. 
 

The City agrees to participate in the Maine State Public Employees Retirement System (MEPERS) and 
maintain coverage for the duration of this Agreement. 

 
As of January l, 2019, all employees who are retired but Return To Work (RTW) with the city are eligible 
for a retirement benefit equal to the city's ICMA retirement program or payment of any applicable 
MEPERS RTW penalty fees, whichever is greater. Retirees electing to fully participate in the City's 
ICMA plan will be responsible for any MEPERS RTW fees and will have such deducted from their wages 
for remittance by the City to MEPERS. 

Pa
ge

  9
 

72



The City agrees to participate, for all bargaining unit members, in the participating local district (PLD) 
Special Plan #3C of the Maine State Retirement System. 
 

ARTICLE 12 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

Section l . Sick Leave 

l . Sick leave shall accrue at the rate of twelve (12) hours for each full calendar month of service 
beginning with the first calendar month of employment,  

The employer wishes to encourage employees to build up their accrued sick leave to provide 
security for those instances when the employee is unable to perform duties because of sickness. 
Upon accruing the maximum number of hours, the employer will permit the employee to bank 
additional unused hours for additional security, to be used only when a long-term illness of the 
employee occurs which can be documented by the employee's physician. The employer will also 
permit the employee to cash in any accrued sick leave beyond nine hundred sixty (960) hours at 
the rate of $6.25 per hour. The determination to bank or cash in these sick leave hours will be 
done during the month of January each year and will be paid out to the employee or credited to 
the sick leave bank in February of each year, or paid upon separation. 
For Employees hired on or after January l, 2014 there shall be no payout of sick time accumulated 
beyond the nine hundred sixty (960) hours. 

2. Sick leave for members of the Caribou Police Department may only be used in the following cases: 
 

(a) Personal illness or physical incapacity of such degree as to render the employee unable to 
perform the duties of his/her position, unless the employee is found capable of other work in 
the department by the Chief of Police and assigned to such other work. If requested, the 
employee shall furnish the Chief of Police a certificate from his/her attending Physician. If 
the said Physician certifies that the employee is unable to perform his/her duties due to 
illness of physical incapacity, the Physician's bill for such examination shall be paid for by 
the City. If the Physician does not so certify, his/her bill shall be paid for by the employee. 
The Chief of Police or City Manager will have the authority to visit an employee to verify 
illness if necessary. 

 
(b) Attendance upon members of the family within the household of the employee when their 

illness requires care by such employee not to exceed twelve (12) days per year. The 
employee will be compensated with regularly earned sick time or through their accrued sick 
bank. A physician's certification of need may be requested by the City, and if it requests 
certification, the City will pay any additional cost incurred in obtaining the certification. 

(c) Absences for a fraction or part of a day that are chargeable to sick leave in accordance with 
these provisions shall be charged proportionately in an amount not smaller than one-hour, 
and will be charged to accrued sick leave in direct proportion to the regular work days 
absent. 

(d) Employees shall see that their department head is notified of the reason for their absence not 
previously arranged for as soon as possible, but not less than thirty (30) minutes from the 
unexpected absence. 

3. Employees hired before December 3 1, 2013: Upon death of the employee, or upon retirement and 
discontinuance of employment with the City, the employee or his/her estate shall be paid unused 
sick leave benefits up to a maximum of the number of hours in their sick bank as of December 31, 
2015. 

 

Pa
ge

10
 

73



Upon termination of employment in good standing with the City, the employee will be 
compensated for their accrued, but unused sick leave, not to exceed 960 hours, according to 
the following schedule: 

After 5 years continuous employment — 25% 
After 10 years continuous employment — 50% 
After 15 years continuous employment — 75% 
After 20 years continuous employment — 100% 

 
The payout can be made to the employee or a retirement account offered by the City in accordance 
with IRS Guidelines, at the employee's option. 
For employees hired on or after January l, 2014: Upon death of the employee, or upon 
retirement and discontinuance of employment with the City there shall be no payout of unused 
sick leave benefits. 

Section 2. Bereavement Leave 

l. In the event of the death of the employee's spouse, child, mother, father, brother, sister, mother- 
in-law, father-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, or grandchildren, step-mother, step-father, 
stepchild, the employee shall be entitled to up to three (3) days leave for the purpose of 
attendance at the funeral and assisting in the necessary family arrangements, and up to five (5) 
days leave for out of state funerals. Such leave shall be with pay and without any deduction 
from sick leave. 

 
2. An amount of time, determined by the Chief, but in no case to exceed one (l) day will be allowed 

for attendance at funerals of the following relatives of the employee not provided for under 
"Section 2" (l) above: aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, or any other 
relative, when such relative is living in the same household as the employee. Said time off shall 
not be chargeable to sick leave. 

Section 3. On-the-Job-injury 
Employees covered by this Agreement who are injured on the job shall receive in addition to 
compensation paid or payable under the Maine Workers’ Compensation Act, an amount sufficient to 
bring them up to full normal weekly salary while any incapacity exists and until they are either placed 
on disability retirement or return to active duty. Absence because of such injuries shall not be charged 
to accumulated sick leave. 

 
Section 4. Vacation 
The following vacation schedule is available to regular full-time employees: 

 
After six months of service the employee will receive 1 work week. 
After 1 year of service the employee will receive 1 additional work week. 
After 2 years of service the employee will receive 2 work weeks’ vacation plus one day. After the 
completion of each additional year, the employee will receive one additional day per year until 
the completion of 5 years. 
After 5 years of service the employee will receive 3 workweeks. After the completion of each 
additional year, the employee will receive an additional one half of a day (6 hours) per year until 
the completion of 15 years.  
After 15 years of service the employee will receive 4 work weeks. 
After the completion of each additional year, the employee will receive one additional day per year 
until the completion of 20 years. 
After 20 years of service the employee will receive 5 work weeks. 

 

 

Pa
ge

11
 

74



The above vacation schedule differs from other city departments to recognize the particular schedule of 
the Police Department whereby 7-day, 24-hour coverage is required. 

Entitlement to vacations under this Section shall be determined as of the first day of the year in which 
the vacation is taken. Vacations shall be granted according to classification and then according to 
seniority in the Department. 

 
The Chief will be responsible for the final approval of vacation. Once approved, the vacation shall be 
considered "locked in" and cannot be bumped by a senior or ranking Officer. Officers requesting to be 
moved to a different shift will not be allowed to bump previously assigned vacation for that shift. If the 
Chief or his/her designee moves an Officer to a new shift, the Chief will accommodate the previously 
assigned vacation times. 
 
For the duration of this contract, employees may take vacations in any increments of their choosing, 
with the approval of the Police Chief or appropriate supervisor, provided the request does not conflict 
with previously assigned vacation times. For requests of two (2) or more vacation days the employee 
must make the request with at least 48-hour notice. 

In the event of dismissal of an employee, for cause, or if an employee voluntarily leaves his/her 
employment, said employee shall be entitled to vacation pay for all unused vacation. 

The employer encourages employees to use all of their annual accrued vacation; however, under some 
circumstances an employee may not be able to use their full allotted vacation. Vacation banks shall be 
capped at the levels currently in them as of December 31, 2015. Starting January l, 2016 vacation shall be 
used in the year it was accrued or by the last day of February of the following year. 

 
In the event that an employee covered hereby dies during the term of this Agreement, his/her accrued 
vacation credits, if any, shall be paid in the wage equivalent, to the beneficiary on file, or to the estate of 
the employee if there is no beneficiary on file. 

ARTICLE 13 - CLOTHING 
 

The City agrees that all employees covered by this Agreement shall be provided at no cost to the 
employees, all uniforms, shoes and other equipment, which it deems necessary for the regular 
performance of the employee's duties. The City shall provide and pay for the cleaning of uniforms and 
jackets requiring dry cleaning and shall provide and maintain equipment as needed. The City shall also 
provide all members of the Department with proper identification cards and badges, which may be 
carried by the employee while off duty. 

Each employee covered by this Agreement shall be reimbursed for the replacement cost of personal 
effects that shall be damaged or destroyed in the performance of his/her duties, up to a maximum of 
$300.00, (except prescription eyeglasses, dentures, hearing aids and personal weapon if Chief has 
permitted to carry.) provided that such loss is reported to the Chief or to the supervisor during or at the 
end of the employee's tour of duty. 

ARTICLE 14 - INDEMNIFICATION AND LEGAL SERVICES 
The City agrees to provide and pay for a policy of insurance indemnifying and saving harmless the 
police officers from civil liability for accidental injury to third parties or their property while in the 
performance of police duties and for legal services in defending such claims. 

 

 75



The City agrees to indemnify any police officer for legal fees incurred by him in defense of a criminal 
prosecution arising from conduct of the officer while in the performance of his/her official duties. 

ARTICLE 15 - PROBATION PERIOD RESIDENCE REQUIREMENT 

All new employees that are not certified or have not received a waiver from the Maine Criminal Justice 
Academy Board upon hire shall serve a probationary period of twelve (12) months following 
certification or receipt of waiver as per Title 30A, Section 2701 M.R.S.A. 

 
All new employees who are certified as full-time law enforcement officers by the Maine 
Criminal Justice Academy or have received a waiver from the Maine Criminal Justice Academy Board 
shall serve a probationary period of six (6) months provided that the employee has served at least twelve 
(12) months as a full-time police officer. 
 
 
Probationary employees shall have no seniority rights during the first six (6) months of the probationary 
employment period and shall be subject to all other clauses of this Agreement. Such employees who have 
worked said six (6) months shall be known as regular employees and the total probationary period shall be 
considered part of the seniority time. 

 
All employees of the Police Department, upon completion of their probationary period, must reside 
within the municipality of Caribou, or within a driving response time of 40 minutes from the Police 
Station, whichever distance is greater. Any such employee who has not established a residence as 
herein above stated shall be subject to dismissal. 

 
It being the intent of the parties hereto, that as to those current members of the Police Department, they 
shall not be compelled to change their residency as a condition of their continued employment with the 
Department. Provided, however, that in the event such member(s) desires to change his/her present abode, 
he must reside in the same municipality as he previously did or move to within the above prescribed 
distance from the Police Station. 

ARTICLE 16 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
Section l . Grievance Process 
A grievance is a dispute concerning the interpretation, application, or alleged violation of the 
specific terms or provisions of this Agreement. Any grievance arising between the City and the 
Union or an employee represented by the Union, shall be settled in the following manner: 

 
l . Step -One – Police Chief 

Within five (5) days of the date the grievance arises; the employee and the steward shall 
discuss the grievance with the employees Police Chief in an effort to resolve the grievance. 
If the grievance is not resolved with the employees Police Chief, then the grievance shall 
proceed to Step Two. 

 

2.  

If the matter is not satisfactorily resolved by the Police Chief, the aggrieved and the steward 
may, within five (5) days after orally discussing same with the Police Chief, submit a written 
appeal to the City Manager. The City Manager, within five (5) days after receiving the 
appeal, shall meet with the aggrieved employee in an attempt to adjust the grievance. The  

 

P a
g e

 1
3 

76



City Manager shall give the grievant and the steward a written decision within five (5) 
workdays following said meeting. 

 

3. Step Three — City Council or its Designee 

If the Union is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Step Two, it may submit a 
written appeal to the City Council or its designee within ten (10) days after receiving a 
decision at Step Two. The Council or its designee within fifteen (15) days following the 
hearing, shall give the employee and Union a written decision. If the Union does not proceed 
with the grievance to the Fourth Step within the time limits prescribed in the following 
subsection and no extension of time is mutually agreed upon, the grievance shall be 
considered to be satisfactorily resolved. 

4. Step Four— Arbitration 

If the grievance is not satisfactorily resolved at Step Three, the Union may appeal to arbitration 
within ten (10) days after a decision at Step Three is rendered. A request for arbitration may be 
initiated by the Union serving upon the City Council a notice in writing of an intent to proceed 
to arbitration. The notice shall identify the Agreement provision in dispute, the issue(s) to bc 
determined, and the employee or employees involved. Upon receipt of a notice requesting 
arbitration, the parties shall request arbitration of the dispute under the procedures of the Maine 
Board of Arbitration and Conciliation. 

 
(a) The arbitrator shall have no power or authority to add to, subtract from, or modify the 

provisions of this Agreement in arriving at a decision of the issue(s) presented and shall 
confine his/her decision solely to the application and interpretation of this Agreement. 

(b) The costs of arbitration shall be shared equally by the parties- Each party shall bear the cost 
of preparing and presenting his/her own case. 

Section 2. Grievance Withdrawals 
A grievance may be withdrawn by the Union or the aggrieved employee at any time and the withdrawal 
of any grievance shall not be prejudicial to the positions taken by the parties as they relate to that 
grievance or any future grievances. 

Section 3. Time Limits 
l. The time limits set forth in the grievance procedure shall, unless extended by mutual written 

agreement of the City and the Union, be binding and any grievance not timely presented or 
timely processed thereafter, shall not be arbitral. 

 
2. Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays shall not be included in the time limits set forth in this grievance 

procedure. 

ARTICLE 17 - SAVING CLAUSE 

If any provision of this Agreement shall be contrary to any laws or a City Ordinance, such 
invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions. The Local Union shall have the 
right to negotiate suitable replacement on any provision found to be invalid. 

ARTICLE 18 - DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES 
Section l. Discharge or Suspension of an Employee 
The Employer shall not discharge nor suspend any employee without just cause. In all cases  
 
 

P a
g e

14
 

77



involving the discharge or suspension of an employee, the Employer must immediately notify the 
employee in writing of his/her discharge or suspension and the reason therefor. Such written notice 
shall also be given to the Steward, and a copy mailed to the Local Union Office, within one (l) 
working day from the time of the discharge or suspension, unless requested otherwise by the 
employee. 

It is agreed that any Police Officer may be suspended without pay if said employee's right to operate 
a motor vehicle in the State of Maine is suspended or revoked. The employee shall receive no seniority 
time during such suspension. Restoration to service shall depend upon obtaining the right to operate 
a motor vehicle in the State of Maine. 
In the event of a crime or Grand Jury Indictment, the employee may be suspended without pay 
pending final adjudication of that pending court case. Conviction of a misdemeanor may result in a 
dismissal depending upon conditions and circumstances. 

 
Section 2. Warning Notices 
Warning notices of the specific complaints against any employee must be in writing and a copy of the 
same to the Steward if the employee so chooses. 

The discipline notices herein provided shall remain in effect for 12 months for a minor infraction and 
18 months for a major infraction, as determined by the Chief, from the date upon which the complaint 
and discipline notice arc based. 

 
Section 3 Wages Upon Separation 
Any employee discharged must be paid in full for all wages owed him/her by the Employer, including 
earned vacation pay, if any, on the next pay period from the date of discharge. 

Section 4. Appeal of Discharge or Suspension 
A discharged or suspended employee must advise his/her Local Union in writing, within five (5) 
working days after receiving notification of such action against him/her, of his/her desire to appeal the 
discharge or suspension. Notice of appeal from discharge or suspension must be made to the 
Employer in writing within ten (10) days from the date of discharge or suspension. 

 
Section 5. Reinstatement 

 Should it be proven through arbitration or court action that an injustice has been done in the 
disciplining or suspending of an employee, the discharged or suspended employee shall be fully 
reinstated in his/her position and compensated at his/her usual rate of pay for lost work opportunity. 
If the Union and the employer are unable to agree as to the settlement of the case, then it may be 
referred to the grievance machinery as set forth in Article 16, within five (5) days after the above 
notice of appeal is given to the employer. 

ARTICLE 19 - UNION ACTIVITIES 
Section I - Time off for Union Activities 
The Employer agrees to grant the necessary time off, but not in excess of one (l) week without 
discrimination or loss of seniority rights and without pay, to any employee designated by the Union to 
attend a labor convention or to serve in any capacity on other official Union business, provided, prior to 
posting of the work schedule, written notice is given to the Employer by the Union specifying length of 
time off The Union agrees that, in making its request for time off for Union activities, due consideration 
shall be given to the number of members affected in order that there shall be no disruption of the 
Employer's operations due to lack of available employees. 

 

 

P a
g e

15
 

78



Section 2 - No Discrimination Because of Union Activities 
Any employee member of the Union acting in any official capacity whatsoever shall not be discriminated 
against for his/her acts as such officer of the Employer's business, nor shall there be any discrimination 
against any employee because of Union activities or membership. 
Section 3 - Time off While Performing Union Duties 
All employees covered by this Agreement who are Stewards of the Union, shall be allowed time off 
with pay for official Union business with representatives of management upon appointment, if there is 
sufficient manpower available to cause no interference with departmental operations. Representatives of 
the Union shall be allowed time off with pay during their regular work or shift hours to investigate 
grievances or to attend grievance hearings, but in no case shall such time exceed a total of two (2) hours 
per week for not more than the shop steward or alternate. 

 
No time off or leave of absence shall be permitted under this Article, unless the Chief determines there is 
sufficient manpower available for normal departmental operations. 

 
It is understood and agreed that all employees have productive work to perform and will not leave their 
jobs during working hours to attend Union matters, except as provided above. 

ARTICLE 20 - BULLETIN BOARDS 
 

The City agrees to provide suitable space for and maintain a bulletin board in each work location. The 
Union shall limit its use of the bulletin board to official Union business, such as meeting notices and 
Union bulletins. 

ARTICLE 21 - TRAINING OPPORTUNITY 
 

The City will post all notices of training opportunities in Aroostook County and at the Maine Criminal 
Justice Academy. The City shall make available training opportunities within budgetary restraints. Hours 
spent in authorized training and related travels are considered hours worked. As the training budget and 
schedules allow; all full-time officers will be able to attend Urban Rifle School and be afforded the 
opportunity to attend specialty training such as but not limited to Interview and Interrogation, Evidence 
Collection, Drafting Search Warrants, and any other fundamental hands on training not adequately 
covered in the on-line training curriculum 

ARTICLE 22 - EXAMINATIONS 
 

Physical examinations shall be paid for by the City and shall be taken annually. The City shall contract 
with physicians for these physical exams. Should an employee choose to go to another doctor, the City 
shall make payment for that doctor at the contract rate. 

 
The City will pay $500 once a year to an employee after they satisfactorily complete the 40% BLETP 
Entrance Standards as established by the Maine Department of Public Safety. The City will offer no 
more than two (2) testing opportunities annually. The City will post the testing dates at least sixty (60) 
days in advance of the testing date. 
 
 
 
 

P a
g e

  1
6 

79



ARTICLE 23- EMPLOYEE / MANAGEMENT CONFERENCES 

Conferences between representatives of the City and up to two (2) members of the unit may be arranged 
by mutual consent of the parties to discuss matters of mutual concern including methods of improving the 
relationship between the parties. Such meetings shall be planned in advance and shall be held at hours 
mutually agreed upon by the parties. Employees, acting on behalf of the unit, shall suffer no loss of time 
or pay should such meetings fall within the regular work hours. Disputes arising under this provision shall 
not be subject to the grievance procedure contained herein. 

 

ARTICLE 24 - GENDER NEUTRAL LANGUAGE 
All references to employees in this Agreement designate both sexes and whenever the male gender is used, 
it shall be construed to include male and female employees. 

 
ARTICLE 25 - DEFECTIVE EQUIPMENT 
 

The Employer shall not require employees to take out on the streets or highways any vehicle that is not 
deemed by certified inspectors to be in safe operating condition or equipped with the safety elements 
prescribed by law. It shall not be a violation of this Agreement where employees refuse to operate such 
equipment unless such refusal is unjustified. All equipment which is refused because not mechanically 
sound or properly equipped shall be appropriately tagged so that it cannot be used by other drivers until 
the equipment passes required safety Inspections. 

 
The Employer shall also make sure all City (Police Department) owned along with issued property and 
equipment is in a working, functioning and satisfactory condition. Improperly functioning equipment 
shall be brought to the attention of the City and the City shall make all attempts to remedy the issue in a 
timely manner. 

ARTICLE 26 - TERM OF THE AGREEMENT 
This Agreement shall govern the rights of the parties from January l, 2026 until and including December 
31, 2028. It shall be automatically renewed for succeeding one (l) year periods unless either party shall 
notify the other in writing of its intention to renegotiate at least one hundred twenty 
(120) days from December 31, 2028 or within one hundred twenty (120) days prior to December 31, as 
aforesaid, if wages, rates of pay or any other matters requiring appropriation of money by the City are 
to be renegotiated 

This Agreement may be amended at any time by mutual agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE PARTIES HERETO HAVE SET THEIR 
HANDS ON THE DAY AND YEAR FIRST ABOVE WRITTEN. 

 
 
FOR THE UNION: FOR THE CITY: 

 
 
 
 
 

Phillip Matthews, Union Representative Penny Thompson, City Manager 
 
 

P a
ge

  1
7 

 

80



NEPBA LOCAL 605:    THE CITY COUNCIL: 
 
 
 
 
 

Jonathan Stewart, President Courtney Boma, Mayor 
 
 
 
 

Kevin St. Peter, Vice President Jody Smith, Deputy Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 

 Dan Bagley, City Councilor 
 
 
 
 
 

 Jennifer Kelley, City Councilor 
 
 
 
       __________________________________________________________ 

 Tamara Lovewell, City Councilor 
 
______________________________ ________________________________ 
 Lori Knight Phair, City Councilor 
 
______________________________ ________________________________ 
 Paul Watson, City Councilor 
 
 
Attest: 

 
 
 
 
 

Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P a
g e

 1
8 

81



TABLE 1 
PATROL 

 
 
 

 2026  2027  2028  

  Weekly Hourly Weekly Hourly Weekly Hourly 
Years of 
Service 

       

        
Non-Academy  $1,329.7506 $33.2438 $1,421.1431 $35.5286 $1,515.2774 $37.8819 
0 -1  $1,398.4825 $34.9621 $1,491.9370 $37.2984 $1,588.1951 $39.7049 
2  $1,450.2503 $36.2563 $1,545.2578 $38.6314 $1,643.1155 $41.0779 
3  $1,480.3881 $37.0097 $1,576.2997 $39.4075 $1,675.0887 $41.8772 
4  $1,508.2290 $378.7057 $1,604.9759 $40.1244 $1,704.6251 $42.6156 
5  $1,526.6866 $38.1672 $1,623.9872 $40.5997 $1,724.2068 $43.1052 
6  $1,539.2526 $38.4813 $1,636.9302 $40.9233 $1,737.5381 $43.4385 
7  $1,552.2924 $38.8073 $1,650.3612 $41.2590 $1,751.3720 $43.7843 
8  $1,560.6766 $39.0169 $1,658.9969 $41.4749 $1,760.2668 $44.0067 
9  $1,569.0505 $39.2263 $1,667.6220 $41.6906 $1,769.1507 $44.2288 
10  $1,577.4347 $39.4359 $1,676.2577 $41.9064 $1,778.0455 $44.4511 
11  $1,585.8189 $39.6455 $1,684.8935 $42.1223 $1,786.9403 $44.6735 
12  $1,594.2340 $39.8559 $1,693.5610 $42.3390 $1,795.8679 $44.8967 
13  $1,602.6594 $40.0665 $1,702.2392 $42.5560 $1,804.8064 $45.1202 
14  $1,611.0848 $40.2771 $1,710.9173 $42.7729 $1,813.7449 $45.3436 
15  $1,619.5102 $40.4878 $1,719.5955 $42.9899 $1,822.6834 $45.5671 
20  $1,627.9356 $40.6984 $1,728.2737 $43.2068 $1,831.6219 $45.7905 
        
  $50 to base/ 

3% COLA 
 $50 to base/ 

3% COLA 
 $50 to base/ 

3% COLA 
 

 
 
 
 

LONGEVITY 
 
 
 
v 

Years of Service  2026  2027  2028  
  Weekly Hourly Weekly Hourly Weekly Hourly 
        
8    $20.00 $0.50 $20.00 $0.50 
12    $40.00 $1.00 $40.00 $1.00 
16    $60.00 $1.50 $60.00 $1.50 
20    $80.00 $2.00 $80.00 $2.00 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 82



DISPATCH 
 

 
 

 2026  2027  2028  

  Weekly Hourly Weekly Hourly Weekly Hourly 
Years of 
Service 

       

        
1  $1,102.1000 $27.5525 $1,186.6630 $29.6666 $1,273.7629 $31.8441 
2  $1,122.7000 $28.0675 $1,207.8810 $30.1970 $1,295.6174 $32.3904 
3  $1,143.3000 $28.5825 $1,229.0990 $30.7275 $1,317.4720 $32.9368 
4  $1,163.9000 $29.0975 $1,250.3170 $31.2579 $1,339.3265 $33.4832 
5  $1,184.5000 $29.6125 $1,271.5350 $31.7884 $1,361.1811 $34.0295 
6  $1,194.8000 $29.8700 $1,282.1440 $32.0536 $1,372.1083 $34.3027 
7  $1,205.1000 $30.1275 $1,292.7530 $32.3188 $1,383.0356 $34.5759 
8  $1,225.7000 $30.6425 $1,313.9710 $32.8493 $1,404.8901 $35.1223 
9  $1,236.0000 $30.9000 $1,324.5800 $33.1145 $1,415.8174 $35.3954 
10  $1,246.3000 $31.1575 $1,335.1890 $33.3797 $1,426.7447 $35.6686 
11  $1,266.9000 $31.6725 $1,356.4070 $33.9102 $1,448.5992 $36.2150 
12  $1,287.5000 $32.1875 $1,377.6250 $34.4406 $1,470.4538 $36.7613 
13  $1,308.1000 $32.7025 $1,398.8430 $34.9711 $1,492.3083 $34.3077 
14  $1,328.7000 $33.2175 $1,420.0610 $35.5015 $1,514.1628 $37.8541 
15  $1,369.9000 $34.2475 $1,462.4970 $36.5624 $1,557.8719 $38.9468 
20  $1,390.5000 $34.7625 $1,483.7150 $34.0929 $1,579.7265 $39.4932 
        
  $50 to base/ 

3% COLA 
 $50 to base/ 

3% COLA 
 $50 to base/ 

3% COLA 
 

 
 

LONGEVITY 
 
 
 
v 

Years of Service  2026  2027  2028  
  Weekly Hourly Weekly Hourly Weekly Hourly 
        
8    $20.00 $0.50 $20.00 $0.50 
12    $40.00 $1.00 $40.00 $1.00 
16    $60.00 $1.50 $60.00 $1.50 
20    $80.00 $2.00 $80.00 $2.00 

 
 

83



MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE 

CITY OF CARIBOU, ME 
AND 

NEPBA LOCAL 605.c 

 

The City of Caribou, ME and the New England Police Benevolent Association, Inc. (“Local 605 
or Union”) hereby agree that the collective bargaining agreement between the City and Local 
605 will be extended for three (3) years, through December 31, 2028, with the changes agreed to 
by the parties’ negotiating teams and set forth below. The bargaining teams shall sponsor and 
support such ratification. 

 WHEREAS, the City of Caribou (the “City”) and New England Police Benevolent 
Association, Inc., Local 605 (the “Union”), have bargained collectively for a new collective 
bargaining agreement (the “New Agreement”) for the period January 1, 2026 through December 
31, 2028. 

 WHEREAS, the City and the Union have reached an agreement.  

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein, the Union and the 
City agree that the following changes will be incorporated into the collective bargaining 
agreement, subject to the required ratifications and funding by City. 
 

1. ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION 
Amend the first paragraph of this section to include dispatcher; Section to read: 
 
The City hereby recognizes that the Union is the sole and exclusive representative of all 
patrolmen Patrolmen and Dispatchers in the Caribou Police Department, except as 
provided herein, for the purpose of bargaining with respect to wages, hours of work, and 
working conditions. 
 

2. ARTICLE 3 – UNION SECURITY – DUES CHECK 
Amend the first sentence of the first paragraph to read: 
 
All Policemen and Dispatchers of the Caribou Police Department shall have the right to 
join or not join the Union.  
 

3. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES 
Delete Section 1a in its entirety. 
 
Section 1a. 8 Hour Shift Cycle 
The normal work week for all employees covered by this Agreement shall be forty (40) 
hours per week which shall be guaranteed each week provided the employee reports for 

84



work each day of his/her schedule. A shift shall be defined as 8 hours worked within a 24-
hour day. 
 
Non-floating employees shall not be moved from their assigned schedule without prior 
consent of the employee. Patrolman designated as a Floater will be scheduled as per the 
needs of the City and shall be guaranteed forty (40) hours the same as non-floating 
officers. 
 
Floater’s schedules shall not be changed from the posted schedule without a 24-hour 
notice or by mutual consent. There shall be a maximum of three (3) Floaters. Senior Float 
will only float after a junior Float or Floaters. An Officer shall not be designated as a 
Float unless hired as such or by mutual consent.  
 
Patrolmen will be permitted to swap shifts with other Patrolmen with the approval of the 
Chief or appropriate Supervisor with at least 24 hours prior notification.  
 

4. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES 
Amend Section 1b 12 Hour Shift Cycle – re-letter as “1a” and rewrite as follows: 
 
Effective May 6, 2016, the The normal work week for all employees covered by this 
Agreement shall be an average six-week cycle of forty-two (42) hours per week which 
shall be guaranteed each week provided the employee reports for work each day of 
his/her schedule. A shift shall be defined as twelve (12) hours worked within a 24-hour 
day.  
 
Delete the following in this section. 
 
Non-floating employees shall not be moved from their assigned schedule without prior 
consent of the employee. Patrolman designated as a Floater will be scheduled as per the 
needs of the City and shall be guaranteed forty-two (42) hours the same as non-floating 
officers.  
 
Floater’s schedules shall not be changed from the posted schedule without a 24-hour 
notice. There shall be a maximum of three (3) Floaters. Senior Float will only float after a 
junior Float or Floaters. An Officer shall not be designated as a Float unless hired as such 
or by mutual consent.  
 
Patrolmen will be permitted to swap shifts with other Patrolmen with the approval of the 
Chief or appropriate Supervisor with at least 24 hours prior notification. No employee 
shall work more than eighteen (18) hours in a twenty-four (24) hour period.  
 
Renumber as 1b (fifth paragraph), is amended effective June 06,2025 to read: The 
regular work tour shall be twelve (12) hours for those members assigned to a patrol and 

85



dispatch function, unless changed by the Chief of Police. The two (2) daily work shifts 
shall be 6:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m and 6:00 p.m to 6:00 a.m. The work schedule shall be 
known as the “Pittman schedule” and shall replace the current schedule reflected in the 
C.B.A. 
 
The first chart shall remain. 
 
Patrolmen will be permitted to swap shifts with other Patrolmen with the approval of the 
Chief or appropriate Supervisor with at least 24 hours prior notification. No employee 
shall work more than eighteen (18) hours in a twenty-four (24) hour period.  
 
The regular work tour shall be twelve (12) hours for those members assigned to a Patrol 
or Dispatch function, unless changed by the Chief of Police. The two (2) daily’ work 
shifts shall be 6:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m and 6:00 p.m to 6:00 a.m.  
 
The next chart is deleted. 
 
The schedule provided in section 1b is the currently accepted schedule of shift duties 
after having been through a one (1) year trial period (2016)  and having passed a one (1) 
year administration discretionary reversion period (2017). Hereafter, bargaining and 
consultation with the Union is necessary, to revert back to the schedule listed in section 
1a or institute any other shift schedule.  
 

5. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES 
Amend the first paragraph of Section 2 Wages to read: 
 
For base pay purposes, 40 hours will be paid at straight time and 2 hours will be at time 
and a half or at 3 hours straight time. The salary for each employee, for forty (40) hours, 
shall be as shown in Table 1 below, for the period of January 1, 2022 through December 
31, 2022 for the period of January 1, 2026 through December 31, 2028. The parties 
agree to do yearly Market Adjustments, prior to adding the COLA, of $50.00 to each 
weekly step (Table 1), effective January 1, 2023 2026, January 1, 2024 2027, and January 
1, 2025 2028. 
 

6. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES 
Amend the second paragraph of Section 2 Wages to read: 
 
Beginning January 1, 20222, and annually thereafter, the The wages in Table 1 shall be 
increased by a Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA) as follows: 
Effective January 1, 2026  Three percent (3%) 
Effective January 1, 2027 Three percent (3%) 
Effective January 1, 2028 Three percent (3%)  determined by the rolling ten (10) 
year average of the CPI-U for the Northeast New England Division all items index as 

86



computed by the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) of the U.S. Department of Labor. 
 
Wages will be retroactive to January 1, 2026. 
 
The table shall be added as an addendum to this Agreement. 
 

7. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES 
Amend the next to last sentence in the third paragraph to read: 
 
Upon reaching the 5-year scale, there shall be no early advancement on the longevity pay 
(after eight six years) as this benefit is defined as a seniority benefit. There will be no 
advance in any other seniority benefit.  
 

8. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES  
Amend Table 1 Base Weekly Salaries (Patrolmen) to the current 2026 through 2028 
wages and report them in both hourly and weekly rate of pay 
 

9. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES 
Amend Table 1 Base Weekly Salaries (Patrolmen) by adding a NEW Step 20 Years which 
is two percent (2%) higher than the step at 15 years. 
 

10. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES  
Amend Table 2: Base Weekly Salaries (Dispatchers) to the current 2026 through 2028 
wages and report them in both hourly and weekly rate of pay. 
 

11. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES 
Amend Table 2 Base Weekly Salaries (Dispatchers) by adding a NEW Step 20 Years 
which is two percent (2%) higher than the step at 15 years.  
 

12. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES  
Amend the paragraph (#1 and #2) following the dispatch wage schedule to read: 
 
1  Shift Supervisor Pay: An Officer assigned the responsibility for supervising a shift 
shall be paid $0.50 $1.50 per hour for all hours worked as shift supervisor. 
 
2. Shift Differential – Patrolmen: An Officer All bargaining unit members assigned to 
work during the hours of 6:00 P.M. to 6:00 A.M. shall be paid $.80 (1/1/23); $0.85 
(1/1/24); and $0.90 (1/1/25) $1.00 (01/01/26); $1.05 (01/01/27); and $1.15 (01/01/28) 
per hour for hours worked during those time periods.  
 

13. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES 
Add a NEW fifth section of Section 3 to read: 
 

87



Effective 01/01/27 a bargaining unit member who has more than eight (8) years and less 
than twelve (12) years of service shall receive an increase of $20 per week added to their 
base wages. A member who has more than twelve (12) years and less than sixteen (16) 
years of service shall receive an increase of an additional $20 per week ($40 total) added 
to their base wages. A member who has more than sixteen (16) years and less than twenty 
(20) years of service shall receive an increase of an additional $20 per week ($60 total) 
added to their base wages. A member who has more than twenty (20) years of service 
shall receive an additional $20 per week  ($80 total) added to their base wages.  
 

14. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES 
Amend Section 6 – Special Duties to delete the entire first paragraph 
 
Outside duties or assignments that are sponsored by the following non-profit organization 
or agencies, or other similar non-profit organizations or agencies, which come under the 
City’s jurisdiction, where police guidance, surveillance or presence is required at a rate of 
$50.00 per Officer per duty. For the duration of this Contract, a Special Duty, as defined 
in Section F., shall b a four (4) hour block. For Duties running longer than four (4) hours, 
the prorated fee of $12.50 per hour shall be paid in one (1) hour increments. Examples 
listed below: 
1. School and/or student sponsored functions.  
2. Functions sponsored by Rotary Club, Kiwanis Club, Lions Club, Lioness Club, 
Veterans organizations, church organizations or Chamber of Commerce. 
3. Parades 
4. Cary Medical Center functions, not including acts of medical provision 
5. Municipally sanctioned events. 
 

15. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES 
Amend the second paragraph of Section 6 Special Duties to read: 
 
Full-time employees who work on any other function shall be paid at the rate of one and 
one half times their current hourly rate, except including for grant funded functions 
which shall be paid at one and one half (1 ½) times their current hourly rate or forty-five 
($45.00) dollars an hour, whichever is greater, with a guaranteed minimum of not less 
than four (4) hours for each assignment. The City of Caribou shall, to the best of their 
ability, apply for any applicable or other overtime grant. OUI, seatbelt grants and any 
other such grants awarded by the Bureau of Highway & Traffic Division, or other such 
agencies, provided any grant match can be met if applicable in the current fiscal year. An 
officer’s presence within jurisdiction required by and reimbursed by any governmental 
agency or grant shall be offered to regular fulltiime full-time employees first.  
 

16. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WORK WEEK – WAGES 
Amend Section 8 to add a NEW paragraph at the end to read: 
 

88



The employee shall have an eight (8) hour break between the end of court proceedings 
and the start of their shift, providing their shift would begin on the same day as court. 
 

17. ARTICLE 8 – HOURS OF WORK – WAGES 
Delete the last paragraph of Section 10 Holiday Pay: 
 
The parties agree to continue the current practice of all holiday pay staying at 8 hours per 
day for officers not on shift on the actual holiday.  
 

18. ARTICLE 10 – INSURANCE  
Amend the Article by deleting the first five (5) paragraphs: 
 
The City of Caribou and NEPBA Local 605 shall form a Committee made up of 2 
employees from the NEPBA Police Department Unit, 2 employees of the Teamsters Fire 
and Ambulance Unit, 2 employees from the AFSCME Public Works Unit and 6 non-
union employees. Management shall be represented by the City Manager and the Human 
Resource Director and or their designee. Management shall provide administrative 
support, research and advisement to the Committee as necessary. 
 
The task of the Committee shall be the deliberation, evaluation and making of proposals 
for alternative to health insurance and sick leave policies in their work place. The 
Committee will be given appropriate administrative support. All meetings of the 
Committee shall be open with a posted agenda, time, place and date. The Committee shall 
establish their rules of procedure.  
 
Should the Committee reach a consensus on a different Health Insurance plan/s then the 
Health Insurance plan currently in effect or alternatives to the sick leave policies, the 
Committee will request that the City and the Union open the contract/s on either or both 
issues unrelated. The City and Union agree that Committee consensus shall constitute 
mutual agreement to open the Contract/s. 
 
A majority vote of both the City Council and Union must be obtained before 
implementing any Committee consensus changes in health insurance or alternative to the 
sick leave policies.  
 
The established Committees will remain in effect and active until such time it is mutually 
agreed by the Union and City that said Committee is no longer needed.  
 

19. ARTICLE 10 – INSURANCE 
Amend the current 9th paragraph to read: 
 
The Plan shall be Maine Municipal Employee Health Trust – 80/20 POS-200 (Baxter) or 
PPO-550 (Katahdin). The City shall offer a Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) in 

89



conjunction with both plans to cover qualifying medical expenses. 
 

20. ARTICLE 10 – INSURANCE 
Add a NEW Section 2 – Maine Paid Family Medical Leave Act to read: 
 
The Maine Paid Family and Medical Leave (PFML) law rules and payroll withholdings 
began on January 1, 2025. Benefits are scheduled to become available on May 1, 2026. 
 
The State-mandated contribution per employee is one percent (1%) of an individual’s 
wages. For the term of this Agreement, the City will pay the required one percent (1%) of 
the contribution. Any change to the State-mandated contribution rate between 2026 and 
2028 shall allow the parties to meet for the sole purpose of negotiating any proposed 
changes to the contribution split.  
 

21. ARTICLE 11 – PENSIONS  
Amend the last paragraph to read: 
 
Effective January 1, 2023, The City agrees to participate, for all bargaining unit members, 
in the participating local district (PLD) Special Plan #3C of the Maine State Retirement 
System.  
 

22. ARTICLE 12 – LEAVES OF ABSENCE  
Amend Section 1 Sick Leave paragraph 1 to read: 
 
Sick leave shall accrue at the rate of eight (8) hours for such full calendar month of 
service beginning with the first calendar month of employment, if employees work an 
eight (8) hours shift. Sick leave shall accrue at the rate of twelve (12) hours for each full 
calendar month of service beginning with the first calendar month of employment, if 
employees work a twelve (12) hour shift.  
 

23. ARTICLE 12 – LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
Amend the second line in Section 4 Vacation to read: 
 
After I 1 year of service the employee will receive 1 additional workweek.  

24. ARTICLE 13 – CLOTHING 
Amend the second paragraph to read: 
 
Each employee covered by this Agreement shall be reimbursed for the replacement cost 
of personal effects that shall be damaged or destroyed in the performance of his/her 
duties, up to a maximum of $300.00, (except prescription eye glasses eyeglasses, 
dentures, hearing aids and personal weapon if Chief has permitted to carry.) provided that 
such loss is reported to the Chief or to the supervisor during or at the end of the 

90



employee’s tour of duty. 
 

25. ARTICLE 16 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
Amend Section 1 – Grievance Process, subsection 1 to read: 
 
1. Step-One police Police Chief 
 

26. ARTICLE 18 – DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES  
Amend the second line of the second paragraph to read: 
 
The employee Employee shall receive no seniority time during such suspension. 
  

27. ARTICLE 26 – TERM OF THE AGREEMENT  
Amend the dates within the paragraph to reflect a three (3) year agreement.  
 

28. HOUSEKEEPING 
Amend the names at the end of the document to reflect the persons authorized to sign the 
Agreement.  

 

This Agreement is subject to ratification by the City of Caribou and by New England 
Police Benevolent Association, Inc. Local 605 and to appropriation. This Agreement shall not 
be implemented unless the parties have ratified and fully executed the Agreement. 

 
This Agreement has been duly executed by authorized representatives of the City of 

Caribou and by New England Benevolent Association, Inc. Local 605. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Union and the City, by their authorized representatives, 

have set their hands to this Memorandum of Agreement on this ____ day of _______, 2026. 
 
 

CITY OF CARIBOU  NEW ENGLAND POLICE BENEVOLENT 

            ASSOCIATION, INC., LOCAL 605 

 

__________________________   __________________________ 

Penny Thompson, City Manager   Jonathan Stewart, President 

__________________________   __________________________ 

Penny Thompson, City Manager   Kevin St. Peter, Vice President 

91



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
RE:  2026 City Budget process 
DATE:  January 26, 2026 
 

Per the City Charter, Section 5.06 Budget 

The budget process shall be divided into three processes: Expense Budget, Capital Expense Budget, and Income Budget. 

A. Expense Budget 
• On or before January 15: The City Manager shall submit to the City Council a draft budget report detailing operation 

expenses for the fiscal year. 
• On or before February 15: The City Manager will have each City Department Head present a detailed Expense 

Budget Report in a public forum where both the City Council and Caribou’s citizens can ask questions and provide 
input to the City Manager and each Department Head. 

• On or before March 1: The City Manager will provide the City’s final written detailed Expense Budget Report for the 
ensuing year to the City Council. 

• On or before the third Monday in March: The City Council will hold a public hearing and vote on the City’s final 
detailed expense budget for the ensuing year. 

B. Capital Expense Budget 
o On or before January 15: The City Manager shall submit to the City Council a capital budget report detailing capital 

needs for the fiscal year. 
o On or before February 15: The City Manager will have each City Department Head present their written detailed 

Capital Expense Report in a public forum where both the City Council and Caribou’s citizens can ask questions and 
provide input to the City Manager and each Department Head. 

o On or before March 1: The City Manager will provide the City’s final detailed Capital Expense Budget Report for the 
ensuing year to the City Council. 

o On or before the third Monday in March: The City Council will hold a public hearing and vote on the City’s final 
detailed Capital Expense Budget for the ensuing year. 

C. Income Budget 
֎ On or before January 15: The City Manager will provide detailed Income Estimate Report to the City Council for 

current year. 
֎ On or before February 15: The City Manager shall provide a written estimated Income Budget for the current year to 

the City Council and Caribou’s citizens. This estimated Income Budget must provide the following detailed income 
information for each main general ledger account and each general ledger sub-account: three year average of actual 
income, previous year’s income budget, previous year’s actual income, proposed current year income budget, and 
proposed level of taxation for municipal budget based on previous year valuation. 

D. Complete City Budget 
On or before May 31: The City Manager will finalize the complete City Budget for the current year including all three 
elements: expense, capital expense, and income. The City Council has the opportunity to reduce the expense or capital 
expense budget if needed based on the current income budget but cannot increase the expense or capital expense 
budget. 
E. Set the Rate of Taxation 
The City Council will set the rate of taxation for the City based on the approved budgets of the City, County and RSU 39 
on or before the 30th of June each year. 92



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
RE:  2026 City Budget decisions 
DATE:  January 26, 2026 
 

Since we cannot produce the needed reports until the financials for the month of December 2025 
have been approved, the City Council can still make some decisions about the 2026 budget. 

 

For example: 

 

What priorities have the City Council identified that affect the spending priorities for 2026? 

 

In 2024 and 2025, the City Council voted not to fund any contributions. Does the City Council 
want to consider requests for contributions in 2026? 

 

In 2025, there was a discussion about increasing funding for cemetery maintenance, due to the 
rising costs.  

 

In 2025, funding for the Caribou Emergency Management stipend was cut, could that be 
revisited? 

 

In 2025, much of the lapsed appropriation was again from unfilled open positions. Should there 
be a discussion about recruitment and retention for key positions? 

 

One priority that has been identified by members of the Caribou City Council is a stable or flat 
tax rate. What programs and services should be scaled back to meet this objective? 
 

93



 

Chief Brian P. Lajoie 

 

Monthly Report – December 2025 

 

Call Summary 

Category Number of Calls    Category         Number of Calls 

Ambulance Calls       227           Fire Calls             24 

BLS Calls       126           Structure Fires             9 

ALS Calls       101           Chimney             0 

Canceled Calls       1           Rescue             0 

Drug/Behavioral Calls       11           Silent Alarms             16 

Outside Community Calls       51   

PIFT Transfers       0   

LifeFlight Transfers       4   

Long Distance Transfers       1   

Total Calls for December:        251 

 

Monthly Activities & Events 

December 2, 2025: 

Chief Lajoie attended walk through training session at Cary Medical Center Radiology Department for MRI 

facility training with the entire department (1800 hrs.). Caribou Volunteer Fire Department monthly meeting 

followed the walk through. 

December 8 through 12, 2025: 
Chief Lajoie attended the Regional Alliance for Fire Training Fire Officer IV class in Brunswick Maine. Chief 

is happy to report successful completion and is now a Pro Board-Certified Fire Officer IV which is the highest 

level that can be achieved in the fire officer series. 

December 13, 2025: 

Chief Lajoie is pleased to report that Mike DiVito, Adam Chartier, Eric Dickinson, Chad McCarthy, and Ryan 

Hall have completed and passed their Fire Officer I certification and are all now Pro Board-Certified Fire 

Officer I. This is a big step in training our future officers of the department. 

94



 

December 15, 2025: 

Chief Lajoie attended the Caribou City Council Meeting (1800 hrs.). 

December 16, 2025: 

Chief Lajoie attended the MDOT Caribou Aroostook River Bridge EMS/Fire/Police Coordination Meeting via 

Zoom (0800 hrs.). 

Chief Lajoie attended the Harriman Bi-Weekly Building Renovation Meeting via Zoom (1300 hrs.). 

December 17, 2025:  

Chief Lajoie attended department head meeting and the City Council Chambers (0830 hrs.). 

 

December 18, 2025:  

Chief Lajoie attended union fact finding negotiations at the Caribou Public Library (1000 to 1600 hrs.). 

December 19, 2025: 

Chief Lajoie attended union fact finding negotiations at the Caribou Public Library (0900 to 1300 hrs.). 

 

 

 

Station & Equipment Maintenance 

Crews completed all monthly building and apparatus checks for December. 

 Snowmobile & Trailer received detailed cleaning including exterior. 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 

Brian P. Lajoie 

Fire Chief,  FO IV 

95


